A REGULAR MEETING
Of The
TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT AND POWER BOARD
Will Be Held On
TUESDAY, September 22, 2015
At
5:15 p.m,
In The
COMMISSION CHAMBERS

(2" floor, Governmental Center)
400 Boardman Avenue

Traverse City Light and Power will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and services,
such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being considered at
the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting/hearing upon notice to Traverse City
Light and Power. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact
the Light and Power Department by writing or calling the following,

Traverse City Light and Power

1131 Hastings Street

Stephanie Tvardek
Administrative Assistant
1131 Hastings Street
Traverse City, MI 49686
(231) 922-4940 ext. 201

Traverse City, MI 49686

(231) 922-4940

Posting Date: 09-18-15

4:00 p.m.



Light and Power Board 2 September 22, 2015
Regular Meeting

AGENDA
Pledge of Allegiance
1. Roll Call

2. Consent Calendar

The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by grouping non-controversial items
fogether to be dealt with by one Board motion without discussion. Any member of the Board,
staff or the public may ask that any iteni on the consent calendar be removed therefrom and
placed elsewhere on the agenda for full discussion. Such requests will be automatically
respected. If an item is not removed from the consent calendar, the action noted in parentheses
on the agenda is approved by a single Board action adopting the consent calendar.

None,

3. Unfinished Business

a. West Side Transmission Line Upgrade Project re-authorization. (Myers-Beman) (p. 4)

o

. New Business

a. Consideration of approving minutes of the Regular Meeting of August 25 and Special
Meeting of September 2, 2015. (p. 10)

b. Consideration of authorizing a change order to C.C. Power, LLC in the not to exceed
amount of $45,000 for the Wayne Street Distribution Line Rebuild. (Myers-Beman) (p.
14)

c. 2015 Energy Optimization Biennial Filing. (Wheaton) (p. 15)
Public comment will be accepted on the 2015 Energy Optimization Biennial filing.

n

. Appointments

Appointment of Secretary for the Light and Power Board. (Myers-Beman) (p. 20)

=

6. Reports and Communications

a. From Legal Counsel.
b. From Staft.

1. MERS board presentation. (MERS/Myers-Beman) (p. 21)

2. Interim Director placement setvices proposal. (Schroeder) (p. 86)

3. 2014 Annval Summary for the Energy Optimization and Renewable Energy Plan.
(Wheaton) (p. 90)

4. Market Research -- Customer Survey update. (Schroeder) (p. 92)

5. Emergency Purchase (August Storm) — Report to Board. (Myers-Beman) (p. 95)




Light and Power Board 3 September 22, 2015
Regular Meeting

6. Announcement of employee appreciation lunch scheduled for September 30,
2015. (Myers-Beman) (p. 105)

7. Announcement of the TCL&P Open House scheduled for October 3, 2015.
(Schroeder) (p. 106)

8. Communication from Acting Executive Director. (Colburn) (p. 107)
C. From Board.

7. Public Comment

/st




FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

e
:@’@%\
(&L

TRAVERSE CITY

LIGHT & POWER

100 YEARS

"(

To: Light & Power Board

From: Karla Myers-Beman, Controller

Date: September 16, 2015

Subject: Project Reauthorization Request — West Side Transmission Line and Wayne Street

Distribution Line Rebuild

Staff has prepared a project reauthorization request for the West Side Transmission Line Upgrade to
include Wayne Street Distribution Line Rebuild.

The change in the reauthorization of this project was recommended and brought to staff’s attention by
GRP Engineering, Inc. (“GRP”) Staff evaluated whether or not to proceed with the Wayne Street
Distribution Line Rebuild project and concurred with GRP recommendation for the following reasons:
I. TCL&P would save on equipment mobilization charges providing a lower per unit cost
comparable to other like similar projects.
2. By doing the projects together the neighborhood would not have to be affected by traffic
control and construction at a later date.
3. The rebuild would increase system reliability by replacing an asset that is past its useful
life and bringing the line up to current day standards.
4, The payback of the project is estimated to be at less than 4 years based on the direct
customers affected.

Staff will be prepared to answer any questions.

Staff recommends Board approval of the project reauthorization for West Side Transmission Line
Upgrade and Wayne Street Distribution Line Rebuild.

If after Board discussion you agree with staff’s recommendation the following motion would be
appropriate:

MOVED BY y SECONDED BY , THAT THE

BOARD AUTHORIZATION OF AMENDING THE WEST SIDE TRANSMISSION LINE
UPGRADE PROJECT AUTHORIZATION TO INCLUDE THE WAYNE STREET

DISTRIBUTION LINE REBUILD.



« A\ TRAVERSE CITY

PROJECT AUTHORIZATION REQUEST @I LIGHT & POWER

Project Name: WEST SIDE TRANSMISSION LINE UPGRADE AND WAYNE STREET
DISTRIBUTION LINE REBUILD

Date of Board Presentation/Consideration: Oeteber28-2014 September 22, 2015
Budgeted in Capital Plan:  Yes CIP:  $ 1.575 million

Objective: Target Completion date of Juby—1-26+5 November 15, 2015

Project Description:

West Side Transmission Line

Reconstruction of the Gray to Hall Street 69KV transmission line will include replacement of all
wood poles, insulators, conductor, plus associated hardware, guying, and anchoring. Poles will
generally be replaced in the same location, although revised pole spacing will occur where it
makes good engineering and practical sense. Poles will be taller due to increased conductor sag
with the proposed #795 ACSS conductor. This increased height will provide the NESC required
clearances over ground features plus distribution circuits, and joint- use (phone, cable, etc.) lines
on the same poles. Line design will give preference to traditional round wood poles, with the
exception of a few laminated self-supporting structures in the Hickory Hills Ski Area to improve
skier safety. Self-supporting laminated wood structures will only be utilized in other areas if
installation of guying and anchoring is not possible. The line will be insulated and operated at
69KV for the foreseeable future.

Wayne Street Distribution Line Rebuild

Rebuild of the Wayne Street distribution line will be from Cedar Street to the top of Wayne Hill
and directly affect approximately 60 customers and indirectly affect an additional 340 customers
(off spurs from the main distribution line). The rebuild will include replacement of wood poles.
insulators. conductors plus associated hardware, guying. anchoring, fusing and transformers.
Poles will generally be replaced in the same location with one distribution pole being removed
from the line. New transformers will be installed due to additional load on the system from
recent residential construction and fusing will be installed on all feeder lines to mitigate large
outages on the system.

Project Purpose and Necessity:

West Side Transmission Line

The 69KV Gray to Hall Street transmission line must remain in service to provide the most
reliable transmission system for TCL&P and interconnected utilities by eliminating potential
customer outages under first (single) contingency conditions and to meet MISO requirement of
having transmission lines looped. Completion of the South Substation project including
installation of 69KV circuit breakers will allow for automatic clearing of any faults on the south
line section thereby maintaining service to all TCL&P customers plus Wolverine Power's South
Airport Substation assuming the Gray to Hall Street 69KV line is re-conductored. Completion of
two 69KV transmission loops capable of serving peak system load provides adequate redundancy
within the transmission system.




Wayne Street Distribution Line Rebuild
The distribution line is over forty vears old evident by the current conductor being copper and

has passed its normal asset useful life. This line needs to be brought up to current day standards

for system reliability purposes. This includes installation of fusing at taps to limit faults causing
outages to feeder lines. provide a higher level of power quality to our customers with the
installation of new conductor and transformers to meet current demand load, and reduce the
potential risk that comes with aging infrastructure deteriorating. Additionally, taking advantage
of utilizing the current contractor reconstructing the West Side Transmission Line reduces the
cost by incurring no equipment mobilization charges and minimizes construction disturbance to
the neighborhood.

Project Benefits:

West Side Transmission Line

The transmission line is the most aged transmission infrastructure on TCL&P's system and is
considered past its useful life and is not built to current day standards. Upgrading the line will
include larger conductor that will allow for increased amperage, while maintaining the same
voltage, to carry the full load required by the system in the event another transmission circuit is
out of service, for whatever reason. Its upgrade will also allow the utility to receive the full
benefits of the multi-million dollar investment into the Gray Substation.

-Wayne Street Distribution Line Rebuild

The benefits of rebuilding the line include increasing public safety by replacing aged poles and
wire that have the potential of falling down; improving customer service by reducing the number
of outages and increasing power quality: reducing energy needs by reducing losses that occur in
the older conductor: and maintenance costs related to emergency repairs.

Other Alternatives:

West Side Transmission Line

Line removal was researched and determined to be detrimental to the utility's reliability in a first
(single) contingency outage situation. The utility also researched relocating the line to the M-
72/Grandview Parkway corridor. That route was cost estimated and staff considered all of the
obstacles and increased costs of that option.

Wayne Street Distribution Line Rebuild
Not applicable.




L(«'P;‘-‘ TRAVERSE CITY
PROJECT AUTHORIZATION REQUEST LIGHT & POWER

Timing of Project: Due to the age of the 55 year old transmission line, this project is the highest
priority capital project for 2015. Typical life of a transmission_and distribution line is 350-40
years.

Project Timeline: Bidding of materials and construction contractors will commence over the
winter months with a spring 2015 start date.

Preliminary Engineering Cost Estimate: $1,665,311 -See attached detailed estimate from
GRP Engineering, Inc._for West Side Transmission Line and $69.400 for Wayne Street
Distribution Line Rebuild.

Financing: No bonding or borrowing is required. Current cash reserves have been allocated
within the Six Year Capital Improvements Plan.

Additional Revenues: None, other than the reimbursement from MISO for the capital costs to
upgrade the transmission line which will occur over an 8-10 year period.

Impact on O&M Expenses: No increase. Since the line will be newly constructed the
maintenance would be decreased from its current status.

Staff Recommendation: Reconstruction of the transmission line overhead in its current utility
easement with a slight realignment in Hickory Hills Ski Area. Rebuild of the distribution line
overhead in its current utility easement.




TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER

GRAY ROAD TO HALL STREET TRANSMISSION LINE
REBUILD INCLUDING MINOR CENTERLINE REVISION & SELF-SUPPORTING POLES
CONSTRUCTION COST ESTIMATE

ITEM]ITEM DESCRIPTION UNITS LABOR MATERIAL TOTAL |EXTENDED TOTAL
1 _|Poles LS $99,700.00} $270,250.00| $369,950.00 $369,950
2 [ Seilf-Supporting Laminated Wood Poles LS $20,000.00] $30,000.00{ $50,000.00 $50,000
3 | Self-Supporting Pole Foundations LS $80,000.00| $10,000.00| $90,000.00 $80,000
4 {Transmission Top Assemblies LS $53,250.00] $70,600.00| $123,850.00 $123,850
5 | Distribution Top Assemblies LS $11,825.00] $8,135.00( $19,960.00 $19,960
6 |Phase Conductor & OPTGW LS $117,221.30] $104,800.50( $222,021.80 $222,022
7 {Guying & Anchoring LS $34,670.00 $17,385.001 $52,055.00 $52,055
8 |Transformers/Secondaries/Services LS $13,395.00 $2,245.00| $15,640.00 $15,640
9 | Grounding LS $7.755.00] $5,850.00] $13,605.00 $13,605
10 |Distribution Transfers LS $9,935.00 $0.00{ $9,935.00 $9,935
11 |Miscellaneous Construction .S $93,007.50f $11,395.00| $104,402.50 $104,403
12 [Tree Trimming LS $50,000,00 $0.001 $50,000.00 $50,000
13 |Sile Restoration LS $25,000.00{ $2 500.00] $27,500.00( $27 500
14 {Demolition & Removals LS $97,391.72 $0.00| $97,391.72 $97,392
15 |Topographic Survey LS $30,000.00 $0.00f $30,000.00 $30,000
16 |Soil Borings & Environmental LS $5,000.00 $0.00| $5,000.00 $5,000
17 |Traffic Control & Signage LS $22,000.00 $0.00] $22,000.00 $22,000
18 |Mobilization LS $25,000.00 $0.00{ $25,000.00 $25,000
19 |Insurance & Bonding LS $4,000.00 $0.00| $4,000.00 $4,000
Subtotal $1,332,311
Contingency (15%) $200,000
Design Engineering $133,000
Staking & Inspections $67,000
Total Estimated Construction Cost $1,665,311
Notes:

1. All costs are estimated as 2015 construction costs.

2. Cost estimate is based on rebuilding the existing 69kV fransmission line from Gray Road to the Wayne &
Division Street underground riser pole along the same centerline with the exception of a minor
revision within Hickory Hills.

3. Cost estimate is based on traditional round woed pole construction and self-supporling laminated
wood structures at the base of the ski runs in Hickory Hills.

4. The cost estimate submitted herein is based on time-honored practices within the construction industry.
As such, the Engineer does not conlrol the cost of labor, materials, equipment or a contractor's method
of determining prices and competitive bidding practices or market conditions. The estimate contained
represents our best judgement as design professionals using current information available at the time of
preparation. The Engineer cannot guarantee that proposals, bids andfor construction costs will not vary
from this cost estimate.



TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER
WAYNE STREET DISTRIBUTION LINE REBUILD

Lﬂ ITEM DESCRIPTION TOTAL
1 |Contract Labor $42,000.00
2 |Materials 14,400.00
3 |Engineering 5.200.00
4 |Contingencies 7.800.00
Total $69,400.00




TRAVERSE CITY
LIGHT AND POWER BOARD

Minutes of Regular Meeting
Held at 5:15 p.m., Commission Chambers, Governmental Center
Tuesday, August 25, 2015

Board Members -
Present: Barbara Budros, Jim Carruthers, Pat McGuire, Jan Geht, John Taylor
Absent: Jeff Palisin, Bob Spence

Ex Officio Member -
Present: Marty Colburn, City Manager

Others: Scott Menhart, Karla Myers-Be) Schroeder, Rod Solak,

aton, Blake Wilson

Moved by Carruthers seconded by M G
Consent Calendar portion of the Agel

‘Meeting of August 4, 2015.

1 Delegate and Karla Myers-Beman as Officer
wvotes on behalf of TCL&P at the Annual Meeting of

Items Removed from l}_e Consent Calendar

None.

Item 3 on the Agenda being Unfinished Business

None.

Item 4 on the Agenda being New Business

a. Consideration of authorizing a consulfing agreement to InfoGeographics for GIS and
electric model updated and corrections.

The following individuals addressed the Board:

Scott Menhart, Manager of Telecom & Technology

10




TCL&P Regular Board Meeting Minutes 2 August 25, 2015
Moved by McGuire, seconded by Geht, that the Board authorizes the Chairman and Secretary to
enter info a consulting agreement for GIS and electric model updates and corrections with
InfoGeographics in the amount not to exceed $88,500; subject to approval as to substance by the
Executive Director and as to form by General Counsel.

CARRIED unanimously. (Palisin, Spence absent)

Item 5 on the Agenda being Appointments

None,

Item 6 on the Agenda being Reports and Communications

a. From Legal Counsel,
None.
b. From Staff.
1. Staff provided a quarterly Strategi
The following individuals addressed th
Karla Myers-Beman, Con
Blake Wilson, System Engi

Scott Menhart, Manager of
Kelli Schroedei::v

iewing the CIP, he stated he will work with TCL&P staff
ing projects in the future.

ty Manager if he wants to proceed with the Joint Study
CL&P Board and the City Commission regarding the coal
he election.

mientioned the Board would be discussing the Executive

uation and how to remedy it at the next regular meeting.

Item 7 on the Agenda being Public Comment

No one from the public commented.

There being no objection, Chairman Taylor declared the meeting adjourned at 5:40 p.m,

Tim Arends, Secretary
/st LIGHT AND POWER BOARD

11




TRAVERSE CITY
LIGHT AND POWER BOARD

Minutes of Special Meeting
Held at 5:15 p.m., Training Room, Governmental Center
Wednesday, September 2, 2015

Board Members -
Present: Barbara Budros, Jim Carruthers, Bob Spence, Jan Geht, John Taylor
Absent: Pat McGuire, Jeff Palisin

Ex Officio Member -
Present: Marty Colburn, City Manager

Others: Tim Arends (via conference call), W. Peter Doren, Scott Menhart, Karla

Myers-Beman, Kelli Schroeder, Mark Watson

The meeting was called to order at 5:15 p.m. by Chairman Taylor.

Item 2 on the Agenda being New Business

a. Consideration of a periodic evaluation of the Executive Director.

Moved by Geht, seconded by Budros, that the Board enter closed session to consider a periodic
evaluation of Tim Arends, Executive Director.

Roll Call:

Yes — Budros, Carruthers, Spence, Geht Taylor
No —None

CARRIED unanimously. (McGuire, Palisin absent)

5:17 p.m. the Board entered closed session.
5:37 p.m. the Board returned to open session.

5:38 p.m. Tim Arends joined the meeting via conference call.

The following individuals addressed the Board:

W. Peter Doren, General Counsel
Moved by Budros, seconded by Spence, that the Board allow the Executive Director to go on a
sixty (60) days sick leave with notice to be given before expiration of that leave as to whether he
will return to work.
CARRIED unanimously. (McGuire, Palisin absent)
b. Consideration of administration of the Light and Power Department.

The following individuals addressed the Board:

Marty Colburn, City Manager



TCL&P Special Board Meeting Minutes 2 September 2, 2015

It was the consensus of the Board to follow the language in the Executive Director and City
Manager contracts, naming Marty Colburn, City Manager, acting interim Executive Director for
TCL&P during Tim Arends’ sick leave,

Item 3 on the Agenda being Reports and Communications

a. From Legal Counsel.
None.
b. From Staff,

1. Karla Myers-Beman provided a report to the board regarding emergency purchases
made during the August storm outage.

c, From Board.
None.

Item 4 on the Agenda being Public Comment

Tom Mair, 612 5" St, Ratepayer

There being no objection, Chairman Taylor declared the meeting adjourned at 6:03 p.m.

Tim Arends, Secretary
/st LIGHT AND POWER BOARD

13




FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

TRAVERSE CITY

LIGHT & POWER

To: Light and Power Board

From: Karla Myers-Beman, Controller \(/\?‘(’7
Date: September 15, 2015
Subject: Wayne Street Distribution Line Rebuild

This report coincides with the project reauthorization of West Side Transmission Linc and Wayne
Street Distribution Line Rebuild. GRP Engineering, Inc. requested staff to reevaluate the benefits of
rebuilding the Wayne Street Distribution Line while contractors were in place reconstructing the
West Side Transmission Line. After staff evaluated the request they recognized benefits noted in the
project reauthorization.

The cost to incorporate the change of scope to rebuild the Wayne Street Distribution Line is a not to
exceed amount of $45,000.00.

Staff recommends Board approval of the execution of change order to the West Side
Transmission Line Contract to include the Wayne Street Distribution Line Rebuild for a not to
exceed fee of $45,000.

If after Board discussion you agree with staff’s recommendation the following motion would be
appropriate:

MOVED BY , SECONDED BY » THAT THE

BOARD AUTHORIZES THE ACTING EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO EXECUTE

A CHANGE ORDER WITH CC POWER LLC NOT TO EXCEED §45,000.

14



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

(,'51. 19]2

TRAVERSE CITY

LIGHT & POWER
t00 YEARS
To: Light & Power Board
From: Jessica Wheaton, Manager of Energy Services & Key Accountsqg
Date: June 22, 2015
Subject: 2015 Energy Optimization Biennial Filing

Attached is the 2015 Energy Optimization Biennial Filing that was prepared by the Michigan Public
Power Agency (MPPA) on behalf of Traverse City Light & Power (TCL&P). 1t is a requirement of
Public Act 295 that the utility files an updated plan with the Michigan Public Service Commission
(MPSC) that outlines the goals set for the utility in regards to energy optimization. The filing
included in your packet covers program years 2016 and 2017. Because the future of Michigan’s
energy optimization program requirements are currently unknown, the MPSC has approved
municipal utilities to refile their 2015 program goals for 2016 and 2017.

MPPA filed the attached plan with the MPSC in August. The MPSC is now accepting public
comment on the filed plan and TCL&P is required to offer an opportunity for the public to comment
on the documents filed. Those comments will then be submitted to the MPSC for review. Although
there is not a motion associated with this agenda item, [ respectfully request that an opportunity for
public comment be offered.

15



STATE OF MICHIGAN
BEFORE THE MICHGAN PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISION

MMEA is Michigan’s trade association of municipally owned electric utilities. As units of local
government, municipal electric systems are non-profit, community owned and operated, and regulated
directly by the city and customers they serve. In 2012, MMEA’s members (Applicants) accounted for
approximately 7.5% of all Michigan retail sales and served over 300,000 customers. Municipal unities
are small with confined service territories, and customer concentration and budgets for Energy
Optimization (EO) programs can be very limited.

MMEA is requesting to exercise the option to file joint EO biennial plans for the years 2016-2017 as
allowed under docket number U-17008 approved by the MPSC on April 17, 2012,

Based on conversations with MPSC staff, filing joint biennials will be acceptable if they are accompanied
with updates from the last biennial filing in 2013. There has been two major plan updates since the 2013
biennial filing: Administrative Changes under U-17008 approved by the MPSC Aprii 12, 2012 and the
Market Transformation Multiplier for LED technologies, heat pumps and heat pump water heaters which
MPSC found in compliance with PA 295 in March of 2014. Updates for both those filings are as follows.

Applicants request to continue operating under the current Commission-approved plans, with no changes
at this time, through 2016 and 2017. The EO portfolio summary which details program budget and goals
for 2016 and 2017 for each municipal utility can be found in Attachment A,

Administrative Changes under U-17008
On April 17, 2012 the MPSC issued an order U-17008 that allowed the MMEA members certain

administrative changes in the way the Municipal Utilities (MUs) will be permitted to design and
administer the energy optimization plans required under 2008 PA 295 (Act 295); MCL 460.1001 ef seq.,
in the future. The benefits of these administrative changes since this order was issued are outlined below.

A. Beginning with the 2011 annual reports due on May 31, 2012 and for all future annual reports
thereafter, MUSs shall be authorized to file individually or jointly in a combined energy optimization
annual report format as provided in this order.

e Since 2011, the MUs have filed a joint annual report and this has resulted in time and cost-
savings while providing consistent reporting data to the Michigan Public Service Commission
(MPSC).

B. Beginning with the 2013 biennial energy optimization plans, MUs shall be authorized to have the
option of filing either an individual or a joint energy optimization plan as provided in this order.

¢ MMEA is filing this joint biennial plan in 2015 for the years 2016 and 2017. This filing will
continue to use the plans that were approved for the year 2015 in the biennial filing approved by
the MPSC on November 12, 2013,

16



C. MUs shall be authorized to reallocate expenditures budgeted for a specific program offering within a
customer class to successful programs in another customer class when the municipal utility’s experience
shows that the market in that customer cliass is not responding to energy optimization program offerings
and the change is reasonable and cost effective as provided in this order.

o This benefits MUs by allowing the transfer of funds from one program to another that is
performing well. One example is Bay City Electric Light & Power (BCELP). The utility’s
efficient lighting program experienced high participation and they were able to keep meeting
customer demand by reallocating funds from a less successful program. Another MU, the Lansing
Board of Water & Light (BWL) had low participation in a Residential Multifamily New
Construction Pilot Program so funds were reallocated to the utility’s high performing Business
Custom Program. Holland Board of Public Works (BPW) and Traverse City Light & Power
(TCLP) have also transferred funds between programs.

» Allowing the member utilities to reallocate expenditures within a customer class has allowed
active programs to receive additional funding when it becomes evident that the budget for a less
successful program will not be spent. This allows customers to continue participating in popular
and effective EO programs and ensures that these programs will not be shut down partway

through a program year.

D. MUs are authorized to limit the third party evaluations performed for certification purposes to the
certification of a municipal utility’s gross kilowatt-hour savings as provided in this order.

e This benefits MUs due to the limited funding available to invest in independent third party
evaluations of incremental savings.

E. MUs shall be authorized to include savings resulting from load management programs that reduce
overall energy usage and that allow for the transfer of renewable energy credits as provided in this order.

e At this time no MU is participating in this opfion.

F. MUs shall be authorized to calculate net energy savings towards the kilowatt-hour goals found in
MCIL., 460.1077 by including energy savings resulting from a municipal utility customer’s participation in
an energy optimization heating, ventilation, and air conditioning program or a fuel-switching pilot
program that results in the municipal utility customer thereafter undertaking fuel-switching that involves
geothermal or air-to-air heat pumps as provided in this order. In addition, a municipal utility shall be
authorized to include annual energy savings associated with customers installing solar thermali systems.

¢ MMEA members continue to evaluate these opportunities.

G. MUs shall be authorized the additional flexibility to allocate savings and budget over a multi-year
period up to and including the projected life of the project by allowing their large commercial and
industrial customers to implement multi-year projects with significant energy savings and costs as
provided in this order if they continue to offer energy optimization programs to all customer classes,

¢ Secveral MUs have benefited from the ability to carry forward both savings and budgets into
multiple years. Large (C&I) customers factor in the EO incentives when planning for energy
efficiency upgrades with large electric savings potential. An example of this is the BWL’s

17



projects with a large industrial customer. For this customer to invest in energy efficiency
improvements they must meet certain payback criteria. One project produced savings of over 6
million kilowatt-hours (kWh). If BWL were only allowed to carry over 33%, over 2 million kWh
savings would not have been claimed. Another example is Sebewaing Light & Water (SLW), a
small rural utility with a large industrial processing plant. This customer implemented a
significant Variable Frequency Drive (VFD) project in one year. Unless the associated savings
can be carried forward, SLW would not be allowed to claim a significant amount of kWh savings,
which could have challenged SL.W’s ability to meet their goals in future program years.

H. Upon petition by a municipal utility, the Commission may, for good cause, grant up to two extensions
for compliance with the electric savings standard established by MCL 460.1077(1)(d) as provided in this
order. Upon subsequent petition by a municipal electric provider, at least three months before the
expiration of the second extension, the Commission may, for good cause, establish a permanent revised
energy efficiency standard of less than 1%.

» At this time no MU is participating in this option. This may become more important as smaller
municipal utilities reach market saturation of certain energy efficiency measures.

G. MUs and their governing bodies have sole discretion with respect to the use of volumetric or per-meter
energy optimization surcharges as provided by faw.

¢ At this time there is only one municipal utility that has a per-meter charge for residential
cusfomers.

Market Transformation Multiplier
On March 10, 2013 MMEA subrmitted a revised update to the 2014-2015 Energy Optimization Plan.

This revision included the use of a market transformation multiplier for LED technology and Residential
Heat Pumps and Heat Pump Water Heaters, The MPSC staff reviewed and found this update in
compliance with PA 295,

® The market transformation multiplier on LED technologies, mini-split systems, heat pumps and
heat pump water heaters began in 2014. Due to the increased savings allowed for these measures,
MU s were able to offer higher incentives. In particular, this brought the price of LEDs down and
made them more affordable for customers to purchase. Because of the competitive pricing,
BCLEP, BWL, BPW and TCLP along with several other MUs have focused on featuring LED
technologies prominently in their EO programs. In addition, prices dropped due to the increase-in
sales and competition. As more retailers and manufacturers wanted to be involved, it drove
demand and spurred manufacturers to increase production of LEDs. In summary, retail prices for
LEDs dropped in the market as a result of increased competition among manufacturers and
retailers due to higher incentives offered.

18



19

oL LYS$ 268°21¢€'S 0LL LPSS Z68°21LE'e 0LLLYSS 268°21E'S L0°0$ 8'S S|ejo| [enuuy pajoaiold
€05'zes £05'2E$ £05'2¢e% uonenjeAz/uilLpY - [eropgns
€8'0LS PE8'0LS PES'0LS (ARINT) uoeneas
go9'Lzs 299'LE$ 299°'L2% uonRISIuUPY AN
80Z'605$ Z68°2LE°E 80Z°605% Z68°2LE'E 802°605$ Z68°21E°E LO'0% 6'C oljojiod wieibold jejoj
0£9°L6ES TR AL JAA 0€9'L6ES GLgirLe 0£9°L6ES GLZirlC 10°0$ oc ¥ suognjog ssaursng - [ejopqns
EYS'ELS PR A erselLs L5628 EVS'ELS L6'Z8 L0'0$ 0g'v sweiboiy AGojouyoa} Buibiswzao)d
9z1'8% 89/ '6F oz1'e% 89/'6% STARE:EN 89/ '6¥ L0°0% gt §901M8S |BUOREONPT
196°'69€% 66717192 196'69E$ 6BY'PLOT L96°69E$ 66Y'7L9'C L0°0% 0s'y $S0[AIDS SS8uUIsng
SI1BWOlsnD 19241g-RS
862118 229048 BIS/LLS 229048 8G/LLS 129046 2008 0o's |suonnjos jenuspisey - [gyoyqns
EPSELS 1¥6'28 £PSELS 1¥6'28 ePSeLs 1y6'2e LO0% ey sweJboid 101d
azL's$ 89.'6% 9z1'8% 892 6% 9Z1'8% 29.'6¥ L00% ey $30IAI9S |BUOlEINPT
LoZ'16% SEL'SLY L9Z'L6$ GeL'SLY 19Z°16$ GeL'GLY Z0'0% 092 SS0IAISG [BjuSpISSY
8r9've 128'2¢ 879'vS 12822 8¥9'v$ 128'2¢ /N V/N S30IAISS SLWOIU| MO
3abpng UMY 1B3A Jebpng YA JBa ) Jobpng [TTEREETN synsa Synse oljoplog weibold
weiboig }sl114 SS019) weibouy }slld ssoln weiboiy 18114 ssolgy WOOM ._.um_m:m
Buijiy ueld 210z buipd ueld 9102 buiji4 ueld 510z

Livii-n

oljojliod weibold uoneziupdo ABiaug Jamod pue ybiT Ao asiaael] 1y juswiyoeny




FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

TRAVERSE CITY

LIGHT & POWER
To: Light & Power Board
From: Karla Myers-Beman, Controller W‘&
Date: September 18, 2015

Subject: Appointment of Board Secretary

Tim Arends was appointed Secretary for the Light and Power Board at the April 14, 2015
organizational meeting. In his absence, the Board will need to appoint an interim Secretary to the
Board. Staff recommends appointment of Marty Colburn, Acting Executive Director.

If the Board concurs, the following motion is recommended:

MOVED BY » SECONDED BY , THAT
MARTY COLBURN, ACTING EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, BE APPOINTED
SECRETARY FOR THE LIGHT AND POWER BOARD.

20



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

TRAVERSE CITY

LIGHT & POWER

To: Light & Power Board )

From: Karta Myers-Beman, Controller VM‘

Date: September 10, 2015

Subject: MERS (Municipal Employees Retirement System) Presentation

During the audit presentation on January 13, 2015 questions were asked about the supplementary
information in the audit pertaining to Traverse City Light and Power’s (TCL&P) retircment system.
Based on the questions asked staff thought it would be best for a presentation to be made on the
retirement system. Tony Radjenovich, MERS regional manager, agreed to be in attendance and present
on the following:

1. Overview of the MERS Retirement System
2. TCL&P’s December 31, 2014 annual actuarial valuation
3. Outcomes of their most recent experience study

Staff has included in the board packet a pamphlet about MERS, TCIL&P’s annual actuarial valuation, and
MERS 2014 Annual Actuarial Valuation — Appendix, which provides assumption information for the
annual actuarial valuation.

21



T

BONNIE SUCHECKI
City of Grand Haven

AKEMI GORDON : CHRIS ALLEN :
Eastern U.P. Transit Authority Detroit Wayne County Health Authority

e - FN

43 MEI{S@ Your Partner in

v | RETIREMENT

KAYO ZIMMERMAN
Bay County Housing Commission

Municipal Employees*
Retirement System of Michigan

1134 Municipal Way e Lansing, M| 48917
800.767.MERS (6377) » www.mersofmich.com




¢ MERS
MMERS
Municipal Employees’ Retirement System

The Municipal Employees' Retirement System (MERS)
of Michigan is an independent, professional retirement
services company that serves municipal members
across the state of Michigan.

The team at MERS is made up of top industry
experts who use cutting-edge technology and fiscal
best practices to give members peace of mind and
security in their retirement. MERS listens and works
in partnership with our members to deliver a superior
value that meets our members’ needs.

We proudly serve more than 100,000 participants,
including local firefighters, nurses, and the men
and women who plow our roads and keep our
communities safe.

JANETTE DAVIS
Detroit Wayne County Health Authority

N

fa.

BY THE NUMBERS

gyt

',1. 1y»_ Michigan counties represented
ﬂa)

@ e eC0Ce

I, participants

W in combined total assets

800 i municipalities enrolled in MERS programs

2 Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan

23




ABOUT MERS

We are an independent, nonprofit professional retirement services company serving municipal
members across Michigan.

AN INDEPENDENT ELECTED BOARD

MERS is a nonprofit governed by

an elected hoard that operates Three Employee Members:

without compensation. Our board Non-officers of a participating

is committed to accountahility and municipality, elected by Two Expert Members:
transparency, holding the line on members With experience in retirement
costs, and watching out for the best systems or investment

interest of our members. management, appointed by the

Three Officer Members:
Officers of a participating
municipality, elected by
membership

» O ¢
’%’ AR, 'i("!’ Board
One Retiree Member:
Retiree of the system,

MERS Retirement Board appointed by the Board

is responsible for administration of the
system with fiduciary responsibility for
the investment of assets and oversight.

A PROGRAM FOR EVERY NEED

At MERS, we recognize that every

member has unigue needs and we Group Gl .

offer a broad range of customizable Buying lifs &p Defined

plans to fit our members’ budgets, Disability Benefit /

needs, and goals. Retirement
Medicare / Defined /IPlans

Advantage Contribution

\_PIEL_‘ 9 Programs
for employee

Investment i tand
QErvices retirement an

Investment other benefits
Services iooiam >
// Retiree ,
< Health /ASHEAIAN
Funding AGare! /4‘
Vehicle ARESAVIROS! Supplemental
Other Post ~ Program Savings
Employment Benefits g —
(OPEB)

www.mersofmich.com 3 24



WELL-FUNDED STABILITY

MERS partners with municipalities, helping them set fiscal goals and discussing options,
to find the programs and provisions that best fit the municipality’s unique needs.

OUR PLANS

Funded at 70%
or higher*

79%

Average funded
percentage”

*Funding data as of 12/31/13

Funding %*

Municipalities

Over 100% 101
90-99% 73
80-89% 121

70-79% o 175

136

—I 3L }

39

4 Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan

25



COST-REDUCTION OPTIONS

MERS partners with municipalities, helping them set fiscal goals and discussing options,
to find the programs and provisions that best fit the municipality’s unique needs.

MUNIGIPAL ACTIONS — ANNUAL TRENDS

280
Cost Sharing for Existing ~ _. Reduces the employer
Employees 149 5 cost, but does not
Employees contribute to help go alfect total cost or the
fund the overall cost of plan m plan’s unfunded liability

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Existing employees are

Lower Benefit to New Hires 63 5 Rt afferTan
New hires receive a ower fier g ﬁ s .
of Defined Benefit provisions 49 1 N 1 E:i“ﬁifg S}lablhty for
DEBRA WILHELM
Charter Township of Northville Bridged Benefits for Leaves earned benefits
Existing Employees unchanged

Benefits are offered in parts to o
Reduces liahility for

. - existing employees. Multiplier 14 17 19 29 14 , -
| is then lowered on a going- s g e W e  N1EW hieS and existing
f forward basis ‘ employees
‘- 0 .
€€ Hybrid for New Hires Existing employees are
: MERS has been a New hires receive a Hybrid R not affected
f great recruiting tool Plan o Reduces liabiity for
for us and provides new hires
employees with an o
2 Defined Contribution for Existing employees are
not affected

New Hires
Employees contribute tohelp ~ 5; 29 A2 30 31 Eliminates liahility for

fund the overall cost of plan E1 % %% new hires

excellent benefit. ,,

| , BRAMWITHELM
HARDIrecton

Reduces existing

|

i frlfl WIS 1A \

| _ Volqntary Contributions 180 2l 210170 liability

f Additional payments made |

| into plan toward unfunded n/a Extra dollars are

| labiliy an 2002 213 24 w5 invested and recognize

1 market returns

f Bond proceeds are

’ Bonding deposited and may
Municipalities may bond fully fund the accrued

| for all or a portion of na wa nfa 4 o liability

| their unfunded accrued Wiz ;@ WA Ng guarantee that
liabilities — pension or OPEB future unfunded

| liabilities won't occur

www.mersofmich.com 5



INVESTING IN RETIREMENT

MERS strives for a completely diversified fund utilizing various management strategies that
will provide downside market protection with upside market participation

INVESTMENT POLICY
Law and Regulation Performance Investment Earnings
MERS must follow MERS consistently For more than 20 years,

— Michigan state law outperforms its . approximately 2 out of
/7 and prudent standards of henchmarks and market every 3 dollars from
diligence. We maintain strict averages, with a prudent, MERS retirement benefits

oversight and management.
Our assets are invested in
PERSIA accordance with the Public
Employee Retirement
System Investment Act

long-term approach
designed to provide
downside protection and

upside market participation.

iy
o
.d

have come from Investment
earnings, not taxpayer
dollars. Investing your
assets into a total asset
allocation portfolio means

(PERSIA). MERS conducts that administrative and
quarterly compliance investment costs are shared
reviews. and affordable.

JUSTEN LEWIS
Wayne County Health Authority

6 Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan 27



A TRACK RECORD OF SUCCESS

MERS is dedicated to providing our municipalities with excellent returns at affordable

costs, while protecting the pensions and assets of our many members.

INVESTMENT HISTORY

MERS Long-Term Investment Returns
QOctober 1975 — December 2014
Not annualized if less than 1 year

Years Returns Over Time

SRCl  9.84%
10 yrs ERIPA
15 yrs EERIE
20 yrs [EIREYS

25 yrs

30 yrs PReRTATS

*Since inception
All rates are shown as gross of fees

Policy Asset Allocation
Diversifying Strategies

Real Assets

Global Equity Total
ota

Market

Portfolio ) i
e 20% |

' Global Fixed Income

4
"' | |
| I
</
I
Fl
bl
i

Year
2014
2013
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008
2007
2006
2005
2004
2003
2002
2001
2000
1999
1998
1997
1996
1995
1994
1993
1992
1991
1990
1989
1988
1987
1986
1985
1984
1983

Year-hy-Year Returns

Rate of Return

6.68%
15.00
11.39

2.29
14.43
17.31

-24.81

8.58
13.62

6.62
14.91
24.70
-8.34
-1.92
-2.76
16.99
14.18
14.44
12.69
23.95

0.52

9.67

8.05
22.14

2.94
19.10

3120

5.51
13.55
24.33

4,50
21.50

www.mersofmich.com

7

28



FISCAL BEST PRACTICES

The team at MERS is made up of top industry experts who apply cutting edge technology
and fiscal best practices to give our members peace of mind and security.

PROVEN PRACTICES
d 50% Funded Requirement to Join
[0 Customizable Plans To join MERS, municipalities must meet minimum
;} We work with municipalities to design plans that fit requirements for plan funding
[] budgets, needs, and goals of each group
100% Funded Requirement for Improvemenis
In-House Legal Staff For any benefit enhancements, municipal plans
&  Asaplan fiduciary, MERS has staff experts that must be fully funded
S

monitor state and federal laws ensuring compliance
and maintaining qualified status as a 401(a) plan
with the Internal Revenue Service

In-Person Service

Our Regional Teams are dedicated to providing
responsive local service across Michigan, providing
expert information and taking feedback from
members

Actuarial Reports
Financial impacts of benefit improvements are
required to ensure plan stability

Actuarial Loads

Actuarial loads are applied to groups that have
demonstrated a history of unexpected final average
compensation spikes

8 Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan



POOLING POWERS FINANCIAL SECURITY

Pooling municipal assets for investment purposes provides huge benefits to members, including
lower administrative costs.

POOLED ASSETS

RONALD COLEMAN
| City of Holland

Each municipality’s retirement plan is
maintained in a separate trust, which
gives our members the benefits of
pooling resources for investments
while maintaining the integrity and
individuality of each plan.

Additionally, MERS has a successful
frack record of improving the financial
health of our members' retirement
plans, including turning around and
rehabilitating plans that are struggling
financially when they enter MERS.

Pooled assets for
buying power

(

/)

0

-
Q
-
i
Q
s
il
()
4

~ Tl
dopliidcy

ﬂ@sl
\a = e

)

)
{
i)
g
7,

<
Q
bl
)
@
5
C|:» !

Separate trusts to maintain each
municipality’s security

Shared Services

MERS is one of the largest, most
established, and most successful
shared services stories in Michigan,
providing administration, investment
expertise, fiduciary responsibility,

and oversight for benefit plans. This
allows local governments to focus

0n core services, leaving day-to-day
administration to us. Services include:

e Plan Governance
On-Staff Auditor

Legal Counsel

Legislative Advocacy
Administration of Benefits

www.mersofmich.com 9

30



READYING MICHIGAN FOR RETIREMENT

We are dedicated to helping employers and participants understand their MERS plans
and resources to find answers they need to prepare for retirement.

Online Resources

myMERS offers participants up-to-the-minute
account information, online calculators, and
other resources to help stay on the right
retirement track.

.

MERS Events and Seminars

MERS Regional Teams hold quarterly meetings
at convenient locations throughout the state.
Pizza & Planning events are free and open to
all MERS participants and their beneficiaries.
Morning Breaks with MERS focus on employer
and administrative topics.

o

On-site Education

We are available to hold group presentations,
attend benefit fairs, and hold one-on-one
meetings for all MERS programs.

&

¢

We stress to our new
employees that it's never
too early and it's never 4
too late to start saving for ?;
retirement. MERS makes |
it easy for them to do this |
by providing many great
fools to be able to save
for the future. ’ ’
JENNIFERISEMAN

HRiDIrector Grandilraverse:County

Retirement Readiness

Individualized retirement readiness reports will

be sent to participants, offering a comprehensive
view of how MERS benefits can work with other
retirement income — and whether they’re on track
to meet their retirement goals.

Publications, Statements, and News

MERS provides employers and participants with a
variety of publications and resources about their
retirement plan.

MERS Service Center

MERS Service Center offers, knowledgeable,
over-the-phone assistance for a wide variety
of benefit questions, including support with
participant online account information. The
Service Center is available weekdays at
800.767.MERS (6377).

10 Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan

31



PARTICIPANT COMMUNICATION

MERS makes communications with our customers a top priority. We use comprehensive
participant data and clearly defined objectives to targeted audiences to create a thoughtfully
designed plan that empowers our members and their employees.

Mass Communication
Messaging appropriate to all active participants, available
through mailings and regional seminars

e Mailings and Alerts: Encouraging online account reviews
and information updating. Quarterly statements and news
for participant-directed accounts.

e Pizza & Planning Seminars: Plan overviews presented at

Employment Lifecycle ,l _

MERS pays special attention
to significant life events so
participants can prepare for a
safe, secure retirement.

» New Hire: New Hire packets,
including information
employers provide during
onboarding, email containing
benefit highlights, access to
myMERS, and new hire video
link.

o Vesting: Email alert offering
congratulations and link to
“Vested"” page of website.
Regional seminars focusing
on vested participants.

e Plan Changes: Email alerts
with links to additional
information and resources.

e Ready to Retire: Employer
and participant resources
directing members to
“Retirement Ready" section
of website,

locally hosted regional meetings.

) ) Targeted Messaging
~ Focused information when

it's relevant instead of
overwhelming participants with
everything at once
e 18-34: Highlighting
budgeting and the benefits
of compounding.

e 35-49: Highlighting
budgeting tools and
living in the “sandwich
generation.”

¢ 50+: Highlighting debt
pay-off before retirement.

www.mersofmich.com 11

32




ANDREA MCPEAKE
Grand Traverse County

@MERS

Municipal Employees’ Retirement Sysiem

BRIAN AZEVEDO
Eastern U.P. Transit Authority

ED KLOBUCHER
City of Hazel Park

This publication contains a summary desciiplion of MERS benelils, policies or procedures. MERS has made
every effort to ensure that the information provided is accurate and up to date. If this presentation conflicts with
the relevant provisions of the Plan Document, the Plan Document controls. MERS, as a governmental plan, is
exempted by slate and federal law from registration with the SEG. However, it employs registered invesiment
advisors to manage the trust fund in compliance with Michigan Public Employee Retirement System Investment
Act. Past performance is not a guarantee of fulure refums. Please make independent invesiment detisions
carefully and seek the assistance of independent experts when appropriate.

Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan

1134 Municipal Way - Lansing, MI 48917
800.767.MERS (6377) » www.mersofmich.com

FORM 5256E 20150710




OMERS

Municipal Employees’ Retirement System

MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MICHIGAN
ANNUAL ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT DECEMBER 31, 2014
TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

34




Spring, 2015
Traverse City Light & Power

In care of:

Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan
1134 Municipal Way

Lansing, Michigan 48917

This report presents the results of the Annual Actuarial Valuation, prepared as of December 31, 2014.
The report includes the determination of liabilities and contribution rates resulting from the participation
of Traverse City Light & Power (2811) in the Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan
("MERS"). MERS is a nonprofit organization, independent from the State, that has provided retirement
plans for municipal employees for more than 65 years. Traverse City Light & Power is responsible for
the employer contributions needed to provide MERS benefits for its employees and former employees
under the Michigan Constitution and the MERS Plan Document.

The purpose of the December 31, 2014 annual actuarial valuation is to:
» Measure funding progress
« Establish contribution requirements for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2016
* Provide actuarial information in connection with applicable Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) statements

This valuation report should not be relied upon for any other purpose. Reliance on information
contained in this report by anyone for anything other than the intended purpose could be misleading.

The valuation uses financial data, plan provision data, and participant data as of December 31, 2014
furnished by MERS. In accordance with Actuarial Standards of Practice No. 23, the data was checked
for internal and year to year consistency as well as general reasonableness, but was not otherwise
audited. CBIZ Retirement Plan Services does not assume responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness of the data used in this valuation.

The actuarial assumptions and methods are adopted by the MERS Retirement Board, and are
reviewed every five years in an Experience Study, which will be completed in 2015. Please refer to the
division-specific assumptions described in table(s) in this report, and to the Appendix on the MERS
website at:
www.mersofmich.com/Portals/0/Assets/Resources/AAV-Appendix/MERS-2014AnnualActuarialValuation-Appendix.pdf.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M1 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com
rpc_id: 6655 Page 2 of 35




The actuarial assumptions used for this valuation produce results that we believe are reasonable.

To the best of our knowledge, this report is complete and accurate, was prepared in conformity with
generally recognized actuarial principles and practices, with the Actuarial Standards of Practice issued
by the Actuarial Standards Board, and is in compliance with Act No. 220 of the Public Acts of 1996, as
amended, and the MERS Plan Document as revised. All of the undersigned are members of the
American Academy of Actuaries (MAAA), and meet the Qualification Standards of the American
Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinion contained herein. The Retirement Board of the
Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan confirms that the System provides for payment
of the required employer contribution as described in Section 20m of Act No. 314 of 1965 (MCL
38.1140m).

This information is purely actuarial in nature. It is not intended to serve as a substitute for legal,
accounting or investment advice.

This report was prepared at the request of the Retirement Board and may be provided only in
its entirety by the municipality to other interested parties (MERS customarily provides the full
report on request to associated third parties such as the auditor for the municipality). CBIZ
Retirement Plan Services is not responsible for the consequences of any unauthorized use.

You should notify MERS if you disagree with anything contained in the report or are aware of any
information that would affect the results of the report that have not been communicated to us. If you
have reason to believe that the plan provisions are incorrectly described, that important plan provisions
relevant to this valuation are not described, that conditions have changed since the calculations were
made, that the information provided in this report is inaccurate or is in anyway incomplete, or if you
need further information in order to make an informed decision on the subject matter in this report,
please contact your Regional Manager at 1.800.767.MERS(6377).

Sincerely,

Alan Sonnanstine, MAAA, ASA
Cathy Nagy, MAAA, FSA
Jim Koss, MAAA, ASA

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M1 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com
rpc_id: 6655 Page 3 of %




TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
Executive Summary 5
Employer Contribution Details 11
Table 1
Benefit Provisions 12
Table 2
Participant Summary 13
Table 3
Reported Assets (Market Value) 14
Table 4
Flow of Valuation Assets 15
Table 5
Actuarial Accrued Liabilities and Valuation Assets 16
Table 6
Actuarial Accrued Liabilities - Comparative Schedule 17
Table 7
Division-Based Comparative Schedules 18
Tables 8 and 9
GASB 68 Information 21
Benefit Provision History 22
Plan Provisions, Actuarial Assumptions, and Actuarial Funding Method 23

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, MI 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com
rpc_id: 6655 Page 4 of 337




TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Executive Summary

Funded Ratio and Required Employer Contributions

The MERS Defined Benefit Plan is an agent multiple-employer plan, meaning that assets are pooled
for investment purposes but separate trusts are maintained for each individual employer. Each
municipality is responsible for their own plan liabilities; MERS does not borrow from one municipality’s
account to pay for another.

The funded ratio of a plan is the percentage of the dollar value of the accrued benefits that is covered
by the actuarial value of assets.

Your Funded Ratio:

12/31/2014 12/31/2013
Funded Ratio 63% 64%

Michigan Law requires that pension plans be pre-funded, meaning money is set aside now to pay for
future benefits. Pension plans are usually funded by employer and employee contributions, and
investment income.

How quickly a plan attains the 100% funding goal depends on many factors such as:

* The current funded ratio
* The future experience of the plan
* The amortization period

It is more important to look at the trend in the funded ratio over a period of time than at a particular
point in time.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M| 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com
rpc_id: 6655 Page 5 of 38




Your Required Employer Contributions:

TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Your minimum required employer contributions are shown in the following table. Employee
contributions, if any, are in addition to the required employer contributions.

Percentage of Payroll Monthly $ Based on Valuation Payroll

Valuation Date: 12/31/2014 12/31/2013 12/31/2014 12/31/2013
Fiscal Year Beginning: July 1, 2016 July 1, 2015 July 1, 2016 July 1, 2015

Division
01 - Non-Union 29.14% 29.16% $ 20,249 $ 17,847
10 - Union - - 57,972 53,578
12 - Union hired after 7/1/ 7.39% 7.22% 478 386
Municipality Total $ 78,699 $ 71,811

Employee contribution rates reflected in the valuations are shown below:

Employee Contribution Rate
Division
01 - Non-Union 0.00% 0.00%
10 - Union 0.00% 0.00%
12 - Union hired after 7/1/ 0.00% 0.00%

For employee contribution rates that are not flat percentages, the rate shown is a weighted average
flat employee contribution rate.

You may contribute more than the minimum required contributions, as these additional contributions
will earn investment income, and later you may have to contribute less than otherwise. MERS strongly
encourages employers to contribute more than the minimum contribution shown above.

Assuming that experience of the plan meets actuarial assumptions:

» To accelerate to a 100% funding ratio in 10 years, estimated monthly employer contributions for
the entire employer would be $ 129,209, instead of $ 78,699.

« To accelerate to a 100% funding ratio in 20 years, estimated monthly employer contributions for
the entire employer would be $ 85,763, instead of $ 78,699.

If you are interested in making additional contributions, please contact MERS and they can assist you
with evaluating your options.

How and Why Do These Numbers Change?

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com
rpc_id: 6655

Page 6 ofgig



TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

In a defined benefit plan contributions vary from one annual actuarial valuation to the next as a result of
the following:

» Changes in benéefit provisions (see Table 2)

« Changes in actuarial assumptions and methods (see the Appendix)

« Experience of the plan (investment experience and demographic experience); this is the
difference between actual experience of the plan and the actuarial assumptions

Actuarial valuations do not affect the ultimate cost of the plan; the benefit payments (current and
future) determine the cost of the plan. Actuarial valuations only affect the timing of the contributions
into the plan. Because assumptions are for the long term, plan experience will not match the actuarial
assumptions in any given year (except by coincidence). Each annual actuarial valuation will adjust the
required employer contributions up or down based on the prior year's actual experience.

Comments on the Investment Markets

At this time, MERS maintains the 8% annual return assumption on investments in the belief that over
the long-term this is achievable. For example, MERS' 30 year return was 9.17% on December 31,
2014. The MERS portfolio retumed 6.49% in 2014, the two year (10.54%), three year (10.73%), four
year (8.48%), and five year (9.59%) returns all exceed the 8% annual return assumption. When
comparing these actual returns to the 8% net return assumption, deduct roughly .25% from these
actual returns to reflect administrative expenses. It has now been seven years since the peak of the
financial crisis and the stock market decline still weighs down MERS’ medium term returns. This was a
one in fifty year event comparable only to the Stock Market Crash of 1929 during the Great
Depression. The stock market and economy have stabilized since 2008 and are on the long road to
recovery. MERS regularly monitors the investment return assumption to make sure it is reasonable
compared to long term expectations.

The actuarial value of assets, used to determine both your funded ratio and your required employer
contribution, is based on a 10-year smoothed value of assets. Only a portion (seven-tenths, for 2008
through 2014) of the 2008 investment market losses was recognized in this actuarial valuation report.
This reduces the volatility of the valuation results, which affects your required employer contribution
and funded ratio. The smoothed actuarial rate of return for 2014 was 5.90%.

As of December 31, 2014 the actuarial value of assets is 106% of market value. This means that
meeting the actuarial assumption in the next few years will require average annual market returns that
exceed the 8% investment return assumption.

If the December 31, 2014 valuation results were based on market value on that date instead of 10-year
smoothed funding value: i) the funded percent of your entire municipality would be 59% (instead of
63%); and ii) your total employer contribution requirement for the fiscal year starting July 1, 2016 would
be $ 1,010,568 (instead of $ 944,388).

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, MI 48152 / retirement.chiz.com
rpc_id: 6655 Page 7 ofaED



TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

The asset smoothing method is a powerful tool for reducing the volatility of your required employer
contributions. However, if the current 6% difference between the smoothed value and the market
value of assets is not made up, the result would be gradual increases in your employer
contribution requirement over the next few years (to around the levels described above).

Risk Characteristics of Defined Benefit Plans

It is important to understand that retirement plans, by their nature, are exposed to certain risks. While
risks cannot be eliminated entirely, they can be mitigated through various strategies. Below are a few
examples of risk (this is not an all-inclusive list):

* Economic - investment return, wage inflation, etc.
« Demographic - longevity, disability, retirement, etc.
* Plan Sponsor and Employees - contribution volatility, attract/retain employees, etc.

The MERS Retirement Board adopts certain assumptions and methods to mitigate the economic and
demographic risks, and the contribution volatility risks. For example, the investment risk is the largest
economic risk and is mitigated by having a balanced portfolio and a clearly defined investment
strategy. Demographic risks vary based on the age of the workforce and are mitigated by preparing
special studies called experience studies on a regular basis to determine if the assumptions used are
reasonable compared to the experience. Risk may be mitigated through a plan design that provides
benefits that are sustainable in the long run. An Experience Study is completed every five years to
review the assumptions and methods. The next Experience Study will be completed in 2015.

Alternate Scenarios to Estimate the Potential Volatility of Results ("What If Scenarios")

The calculations in this report are based on assumptions about long-term economic and demographic
behavior. These assumptions will never materialize in a given year, except by coincidence. Therefore
the results will vary from one year to the next. The volatility of the results depends upon the
characteristics of the plan. For example:

 Open divisions that have substantial assets compared to their active employee payroll will have
more volatile employer contribution rates due to investment return fluctuations.

* Open divisions that have substantial accrued liability compared to their active employee payroll
will have more volatile employer contribution rates due to demographic experience fluctuations.

» Small divisions will have more volatile contribution patterns than larger divisions because
statistical fluctuations are relatively larger among small populations.

» Shorter amortization periods result in more volatile contribution patterns.

The analysis in this section is intended to review the potential volatility of the actuarial valuation results.
It is important to note that calculations in this report are mathematical estimates based upon
assumptions regarding future events, which may or may not materialize. Actuarial calculations can and
do vary from one valuation to the next, sometimes significantly depending on the group’s size.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, MI 48152 / relirement.cbiz com
rpc_id: 6655 Page 8 of 43




TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Many assumptions are important in determining the required employer contributions.

For example:

« Lower investment returns would result in higher required employer contributions, and vice-versa.

» Smaller than projected pay increases would lower required employer contributions.

» Reductions in the number of active employees would lower required contribution dollars, but
would usually increase the contribution rate expressed as a percentage of (the now lower)

payroll.

» Retirements at earlier ages than projected would usually increase required employer

contributions.

« More non-vested terminations of employment than projected would decrease required

contributions.

 More disabilities or survivor (death) benefits than projected would increase required

contributions.

« Longer lifetimes after retirement than projected would increase required employer contributions.

In the table below, we show the impact of varying one actuarial assumption: the future annual rate of
investment return. Lower investment returns would result in higher required employer contributions,

and vice-versa.

The relative impact of each investment return scenario below will vary from year to year, as the
participant demographics change. The impact of each scenario should be analyzed for a given year,
not from year to year. The results in the table are based on the December 31, 2014 valuation, and are
for the municipality in total, not by division.

Assumed Future Annual Smoothed Rate of Investment Return
Valuation

Lower Future Annual Returns Assumption Higher Returns
12/31/2014 Valuation Results 6% % 8% 9%
Accrued Liability $ 34,135,225 $ 30,462,219 $ 27,378,082 $ 24,769,074
\Valuation Assets $ 17,198,964 $ 17,198,964 $ 17,198,964 $ 17,198,964
Unfunded Accrued Liability $ 16,936,261 $ 13,263,255 $ 10,179,118 $ 7,570,110
Funded Ratio 50% 57% 63% 69%
Monthly Normal Cost $ 42,655 $ 32,794 $ 25,363 $ 19,745
Monthly Amortization Payment $ 74,093 ) 63,911 $ 53,336 $ 42,329
Total Employer Contribution’ $ 116,748 $ 96,705 $ 78,699 $ 62,074

1 |f assets exceed accrued liabilities for a division, the division’s amortization payment is negative and is used to reduce the division's employer
contribution requirement. If the overfunding credit is larger than the normal cost, the division’s full credit is included in the municipality’s amortization
payment above but the division's total contribution requirement is zero. This can cause the displayed normal cost and amortization payment to not

add up to the displayed total employer contribution.

‘CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M1 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com

rpc_id: 6655

Page 9 of ZPZ



TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Five Year Projection Scenarios

The following table illustrates the plan's projected liabilities and required employer contributions for the
next five fiscal years, under three actuarial assumptions and future economic scenarios. All three
scenarios take into account the 2008 financial losses that will continue to affect the smoothed rate of
return for the next three years.

Valuation | Fiscal Year Required Annual
Year Ending| Beginning | Actuarial Accrued Funded Employer
12/31 VK| Liability Valuation Assets | Percentage Contribution’
8% Assumed Interest Discount Rate and Future Annual Market Rate of Return
2014 2016 $ 27,378,082 | $ 17,198,964 63% | $ 991,824
2015 2017 28,200,900 17,406,600 62% 1,050,800
2016 2018 28,911,100 17,481,500 61% 1,118,500
2017 2019 29,538,000 17,557,500 59% 1,195,700
2018 2020 30,201,400 18,091,800 60% 1,234,900
7% Assumed Interest Discount Rate and Future Annual Market Rate of Return
2014 2016 $ 30,462,219 | $ 17,198,964 57% | $ 1,227,264
2015 2017 31,261,800 17,396,700 56% 1,278,000
2016 2018 32,092,800 17,601,500 55% 1,342,100
2017 2019 32,756,100 17,868,300 55% 1,412,800
2018 2020 33,551,400 18,567,700 55% 1,460,400
6% Assumed Interest Discount Rate and Future Annual Market Rate of Return
2014 2016 $ 34,135,225 | $ 17,198,964 50% | $ 1,492,152
2015 2017 35,056,700 17,396,700 50% 1,536,700
2016 2018 35,822,100 17,644,600 49% 1,599,000
2017 2019 36,637,500 18,199,100 50% 1,672,700
2018 2020 37,382,000 19,203,800 51% 1,721,300

1 Foran employer with any open divisions, this column will include the impact of projected increases in total payroll from 2014 to the
applicable fiscal year. This will cause the projected contribution for the fiscal year beginning in 2016 to be higher than the Estimated
Annual Contribution shown in Table 1.

The first scenario provides an estimate of required employer contributions based on current actuarial
assumptions, and a projected 8% market return. The other scenarios may be useful if the municipality
chooses to budget more conservatively, and make contributions in addition to the minimum
requirements. The 7% and 6% projections provide an indication of the potential required employer
contribution if MERS were to realize investment returns of 7% and 6% over the long-term.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / relirement.chiz.com
rpe_id: 6655

Page 10 of%




Employer Contribution Details
For the Fiscal Year Beginning July 1, 2016

TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Table 1
Amort. Employer Contributions!
Period Total Employee
for Unfunded | Required Blended Employee | Contribut.
Unfund. Accrued Employer | Employer |Contribution| Conversion
Division Liab.*®|Normal Cost| Liability | Contribut. | Contribut.” Rate® Factor?
Percentage of Payroll
01 - Non-Union 24 11.72% 17.42% 29.14% 0.00% 0.86%
10 - Union 24 - - - 33.48% 0.00%
12 - Union hired after 24 7.03% 0.36% 7.39% 33.48% 0.00% 0.96%
Estimated Monthly
Contribution®
01 - Non-Union 24 |$ 8,144 (%  12,105|$% 20,249
10 - Union 24 16,764 41,208 57,972
12 - Union hired after 24 455 23 478
Total Municipality $ 25363|% 53,336($ 78,699
Estimated Annual
Contribution® $ 304,356|% 640,032($ 944,388

1 The above employer contribution requirements are in addition to the employee contributions, if any.

2 employee conltributions are increased/decreased by 1.00% of pay, the employer contribution requirement will decreasefincrease by the Employee
Contribution Conversion Factor. The conversion factor is usually under 1%, because employee contributions may be refunded at termination of
employment, and not used to fund retirement pensions. Employer contributions will all be used to fund pensions.

3 For divisions that are open to new hires, estimated contributions are based on valuation payroll. Actual contributions will be based on actual reported
monthly pays, and will be different from the above amounts (usually higher). For divisions that will have no new hires, invoices will be based on the
above dollar amounts which are based on projected fiscal year payroll. See description of Open Divisions and Closed Divisions in the Appendix.

4 if projected assets exceed projected liabilities as of the beginning of the July 1, 2016 fiscal year, the negative unfunded accrued liability is amortized
(spread) over 10 years. This amortization is used to reduce the employer contribution rate. Note that if the overfunding credit is larger than the
normal cost, the full credit is shown above but the total contribution requirement is zero. This will cause the displayed normal cost and unfunded
accrued liability contributions to not add across.

5 |f the division is closed to new hires, with new hires not covered by MERS Defined Benefit Plan or Hybrid Plan provisions, the amortization period will
decrease as follows: Under Amortization Option A, the period will decrease by 2 years each valuation year, until it reaches 6 or 5 years. Then it
decreases by 1 year each valuation year until the UAL is paid off. Under Amortization Option B, the period will decrease by 2 years each valuation
year, until it reaches 16 or 15 years. Thereafter, the period will reduce by 1 year each valuation year, until the UAL is paid off. This will result in
amortization payments that increase faster than the usual 4.5% each year. If the division is closed to new hires, with new hires (and transfers)
covered by MERS Defined Benefit Plan or Hybrid Plan provisions, the standard open division amortization period will apply.

6 For employee contribution rates that are not flat percentages, the rate shown is a weighted average flat employee coniribution rate.

7 For linked divisions, the employer will be invoiced the Total Required Employer Contribution rate shown above for each linked division (a contribution
rate for the open division; a contribution dollar for the closed-but-linked division), unless the employer elects to contribute the Blended Employer
Contribution rate shown above, by contacting MERS at 800-767-2308.

Please see the Comments on the Investment Markets.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, MI 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com
rpc_id: 6655

Page 11 ofﬂ;’4



Benefit Provisions

TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Table 2

01- Non-Union: Open Division

Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):

Final Average Compensation:
COLA for Future Retirees:
COLA for Current Retirees:
Employee Contributions:

Act 88:

2014 Valuation

2013 Valuation

2.25% Multiplier (80% max)
60

10 years

55/25

50/25

55/15

5 years

2.50% (Non-Compound)
2.50% (Non-Compound)
0%

No

10 - Union: Closed to new hires, linked to Division 12

Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):
Final Average Compensation:
COLA for Future Retirees:
COLA for Current Retirees:
Employee Contributions:

Act 88:

2014 Valuation

2.25% Multiplier (80% max)
60

10 years

55/25

50/25

55/15

5 years

2.50% (Non-Compound)
2.50% (Non-Compound)
0%

No

2013 Valuation

2.25% Multiplier (80% max)
60

6 years

50/25

55/15

5 years

2.50% (Non-Compound)
2.50% (Non-Compound)
0%

No

2.25% Multiplier (80% max)
60

6 years

50/25

55/15

5 years

2.50% (Non-Compound)
2.50% (Non-Compound)
0%

No

§12 - Union hired after 7/1/2012: Open Division, linked to Division 10

Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):

Final Average Compensation:
COLA for Future Retirees:
Employee Contributions:

Act 88:

2014 Valuation

2013 Valuation

1.50% Multiplier (no max)
60

6 years

55/25

50/25

55/15

5 years

2.50% (Non-Compound)
0%

No

1.50% Multiplier (no max)
60

6 years

55/25

50/25

55/15

5 years

2.50% (Non-Compound)
0%

No

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M| 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com

rpc_id: 6655

Page 12 0f425




Participant Summary

TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Table 3
2014 Valuation 2013 Valuation 2014 Valuation
Average | Average
Annual Annual  |Average| Benefit | Eligibility
hDivision Number| Payroli' |Number| Payrolll Age | Service? | Service?
01 - Non-Union
Active Employees 10 |$ 833,871 9 |$ 734440| 406 7.6 9.4
Vested Former Employees 4 51,949 4 51,949 544 7.0 10.5
Retirees and Beneficiaries 12 425,063 12 416,225 68.2
10 - Union
Active Employees 26 |$ 1,950,871 26 |$ 1,866,308| 46.7 16.1 16.1
Vested Former Employees 1 6,537 1 6,637 39.8 6.1 6.1
Retirees and Beneficiaries 41 1,203,956 43 1,221,169 67.7
12 - Union hired after 7/
Active Employees 2 |$ 77,749 2 |$ 64,040 | 234 2.0 2.0
Vested Former Employees 0 0 0 0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Retirees and Beneficiaries 0 0 0 0 0.0
Total Municipality
Active Employees 38 |$ 2,862,491 37 |$ 2,664,788 | 43.9 13.1 13.6
Vested Former Employees 5 58,486 5 58,486 | 51.5 6.8 9.6
Retirees and Beneficiaries 53 1,629,019 55 1,637,394 67.8
Total Participants 96 97

1 Annual payroll for active employees; annual deferred benefits payable for vested former employees; annual benefits being paid for retirees and

beneficiaries.

2 Description can be found under Miscellaneous and Technical Assumptions in the Appendix.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com

rpc_id: 6655

Page 13 0f428



Reported Assets (Market Value)

TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Table 4
2014 Valuation 2013 Valuation

Employer and Employer and
IDivision Retiree! Employee? Retiree’ Empioyee2
01 - Non-Union $ 4,006,646 $ 5,762 $ 4,022,352 $ 5,762
10 - Union 12,021,529 180,922 11,901,618 180,525
12 - Union hired after 7/1/2012 11,543 0 5,260 0
[Municipality Total $ 16,039,718 $ 186,684 $ 15,929,230 $ 186,287
|Combined Reserves $ 16,226,402 $ 16,115,517

1 Reserve for Employer Contributions and Benefit Payments

2 Reserve for Employee Contributions

The December 31, 2014 valuation assets are equal to 1.059937 times the reported market value of
assets (compared to 1.061840 as of December 31, 2013). The derivation of valuation assets is
described, and detailed calculations of valuation assets are shown, in the Appendix.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / retirement.cbiz .com

rpc_id: 6655

Page 14 ofqg




£z J0 5| abed 5599 :prEHKD

o 23 WSS T3] 7 ZG1LBY T 'BIMOAIT 0§ 9UNS 'SANQ Med IINET N L84} / SSIINIDS Ueld JUDW Aoy ZIgD

"SUCRNGLALCS Jafojdie pannbad sunyn) peIndwos aoNPal 0} PESN PUE SUOIINGLIUGS painba) yim paUIgUWcd I8 SUCRNGUIUGCD 1SA0[dWS [BUCHIDDE UoneN[en [ELIBMDE auf U]
*SUOINQLIUES Jafojdwie paInbal By LRIM PSUIGLICY S8 SUOHNGLIUOD [BUORIPPE 'LLOZ 01 40d *| L0Z Ul Bulels Apieiedas umoys 218 'AUR Jf ‘SUONNGIIUCS JoA0IdWS [BUonIppY

‘porpidde sey
Apoq Buiiancd syl tewy (Aue y1) saseyaund 1pald aiades Joy siuswied aakoldws pue Jakoldwa of pue ‘sanedpuniu usameq siuedionsed Jo JajsuURI} U} 0 Pale(el AJBNSN 818 N0 pUB Ut SIaiSue),

SOI0N
#96'861' 21 0 0 ($¥2'929'1L) L18'6€6 0 0 0£2'slL ¥i0Z
LOL'ZLL L) 8Lt'69 0 (212'¥95')) 802'¢S6 0 0 §92'I1L €102
1Z6'0¥6'9L 891 0 (909'L1¥'L) LIS'ELL 0 0 800'0£L AR
o¥s'806'eL S | wIL'SHO'YL $| O $ | (s1e'siz) $| 692'gss'z $| O $|1 0 $| si8'08r $| 1102

S alqel

$}J9SSY Uolen|eA o mojd4

4



TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Actuarial Accrued Liabilities and Valuation Assets

As of December 31, 2014

Table 6
Unfunded
(Overfunded)
Actuarial Accrued
IDivision Accrued Liability |Valuation Assets!| Percent Funded Liabilities
01 - Non-Union
Active Employees $ 1,584,361 | % 0 00% |$ 1,584,361
Vested Former Employees 446,168 0 0.0% 446,168
Retirees And Beneficiaries 4,656,805 4,252,900 91.3% 403,905
Pending Refunds Q 0 0.0% Q
Total $ 6,687,334 | $ 4,252,900 63.6% |$ 2,434,434
10 - Union
Active Employees $ 7,055,201 | $ 180,922 26% |$ 6,874,279
Vested Former Employees 16,533 0 0.0% 16,533
Retirees And Beneficiaries 13,602,148 12,752,907 93.8% 849,241
Pending Refunds 0] 0 0.0% Q
Total $ 20,673,882 |$ 12,933,829 62.6% |$ 7,740,053
12 - Union hired after 7/1/2012
Active Employees $ 16,866 | $ 12,235 725% | $ 4,631
Vested Former Employees 0 0 0.0% 0
Retirees And Beneficiaries 0 0 0.0% 0
Pending Refunds 0 0 0.0% 0
Total $ 16,866 | $ 12,235 725% | $ 4,631
Total Municipality
Active Employees $ 8,656,428 | $ 193,157 22% |$ 8,463,271
Vested Former Employees 462,701 0 0.0% 462,701
Retirees and Beneficiaries 18,258,953 17,005,807 93.1% 1,253,146
Pending Refunds 0 0 0.0% 0
Total Participants $ 27,378,082 |$ 17,198,964 62.8% |$ 10,179,118
The following results show the combined accrued liabilities and assets for each set of linked divisions. These results are
already included in the table above.
ILinked Divisions 12, 10
Active Employees $ 7,072,067 |$ 193,157 27% |$ 6,878,910
Vested Former Employees 16,533 0 0.0% 16,533
Retirees and Beneficiaries 13,602,148 12,752,907 93.8% 849,241
Pending Refunds 0 0 0.0% 0
Total $ 20,690,748 |$ 12,946,064 62.6% |$ 7,744,684

1 Includes both employer and employee assets.

Please see the Comments on the Investment Markets.

See the MERS Fiscal Responsibility Policy on the MERS website at:

Jiwww.mersofmi

com/Portals/0/Assets/PageResources/MERS/PlanDocument/Pe

ionfsec_43c.pdf.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M| 48152 / relirement.cbiz.com

rpc_id: 6655

Page 16 ofa.g




TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Actuarial Accrued Liabilities - Comparative Schedule

rpc_id: 6655

Table 7
Unfunded
(Overfunded)
Valuation Date Actuarial Percent Accrued
December 31 |Accrued Liability|Valuation Assets Funded Liabilities
2011 $ 24,854,814 |$ 16,908,546 68% $ 7,946,268
2012 25,730,036 16,940,927 66% 8,789,109
2013 26,572,254 17,112,101 64% 9,460,153
2014 27,378,082 17,198,964 63% 10,179,118

Notes: Actuarial assumptions were revised for the 2000, 2004, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, and 2012 actuarial valuations.

CBIZ Relirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / relirement.chiz.com

Page 17 ofg’o




Division 01 - Non-Union

TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

rpc_id: 6655

Table 8-01: Actuarial Accrued Liabilities - Comparative Schedule

Unfunded
(Overfunded)

Valuation Date Actuarial Accrued

December 31 | Accrued Liability | Valuation Assets | Percent Funded Liabilities
2011 $ 5,615,827 |$ 4,061,061 72% $ 1,554,766
2012 5,870,582 4,170,628 71% 1,699,954
2013 6,403,787 4,277,213 67% 2,126,574
2014 6,687,334 4,252,900 64% 2,434,434

Notes: Actuarial assumptions were revised for the 2004, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, and 2012 actuarial valuations.

Table 9-01: Required Employer Contributions - Comparative Schedule

Active Employees Required Employee
Valuation Date Annual Employer Contribution
December 31 Number Payroll Contribution’ Rate?
2011 13 |$ 995,465 19.53% 0.00%
2012 12 999,231 21.26% 0.00%
2013 9 734,440 29.16% 0.00%
2014 10 833,871 29.14% 0.00%

1 For open divisions, a percent of pay cantribution is shown. For closed divisions, a monthly dollar contribution is shown.

2 For employee contribution rates that are not flat percentages, the rate shown is a weighted average flat employee
contribution rate. For each valuation year, the required employer contribution is based on the employee rate. If the
employee rate changes during the applicable fiscal year, the required employer contribution will be adjusted.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, MI 48152 / retirement.chiz.com

Page 18 0f531



Division 10 - Union

TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Table 8-10: Actuarial Accrued Liabilities - Comparative Schedule

Unfunded
(Overfunded)

Valuation Date Actuarial Accrued

December 31 | Accrued Liability | Valuation Assets | Percent Funded Liabilities
2011 $ 19,238,987 |$ 12,847,485 67% 6,391,502
2012 19,857,774 12,769,362 64% 7,088,412
2013 20,160,852 12,829,303 64% 7,331,549
2014 20,673,882 12,933,829 63% 7,740,053

Notes: Actuarial assumptions were revised for the 2004, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, and 2012 actuarial valuations.

Table 9-10: Required Employer Contributions - Comparative Schedule

Active Employees Required Employee
Valuation Date Annual Employer Contribution
December 31 Number Payroll Contribution’ Rate?
2011 29 |% 1,943,524 30.03% 0.00%
2012 27 1,913,911 $ 52,526 0.00%
2013 26 1,866,308 $53,578 0.00%
2014 26 1,950,871 $ 57,972 0.00%

1 For open divisions, a percent of pay contribution is shown. For closed divisions, a monthly dollar contribution is shown.

2 For employee contribution rates that are not flat percentages, the rate shown is a weighted average flat employee
contribution rate. For each valuation year, the required employer contribution is based on the employee rate. If the
employee rate changes during the applicable fiscal year, the required employer contribution will be adjusted.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M1 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com

Page 19 0f5:2




TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Division 12 - Union hired after 7/1/2012

Table 8-12: Actuarial Accrued Liabilities - Comparative Schedule

Unfunded
(Overfunded)

Valuation Date Actuarial Accrued

December 31 | Accrued Liability | Valuation Assets | Percent Funded Liabilities
2012 $ 1,680 [$ 937 56% 743
2013 7,615 5,585 73% 2,030
2014 16,866 12,235 73% 4,631

Notes: Actuarial assumptions were revised for the 2004, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, and 2012 actuarial valuations.

Table 9-12: Required Employer Contributions - Comparative Schedule

Active Employees Required Employee
Valuation Date Annual Employer Contribution
December 31 Number Payroll Contribution® Rate?
2012 1 1% 24,829 7.27% 0.00%
2013 2 64,040 7.22% 0.00%
2014 2 77,749 7.39% 0.00%

1 For open divisions, a percent of pay contribution is shown. For closed divisions, a monthly dollar contribution is shown.

2 For employee contribution rates that are not flat percentages, the rate shown is a weighted average flat employee
contribution rate. For each valuation year, the required employer contribution is based on the employee rate. If the
employee rate changes during the applicable fiscal year, the required employer contribution will be adjusted.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M1 48152 [ retirement.chiz com

rpc_id: 6655

Page 20 of%




TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

GASB 68 Information

The following information has been prepared to provide some of the information necessary to complete
GASB Statement No. 68 disclosures. Statement 68 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2014. Additional resources, including an Implementation Guide, are available at www.mersofmich.com .

Actuarial Valuation Date: 12/31/2014
Measurement Date of Total Pension Liability (TPL): 12/31/2014
At 12/31/2014, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits: 53
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits: 5
Active employees: 38
96
Covered employee payroll: (Needed for Required Supplementary Information) $ 2,862,491
Total Pension Liability as of 12/31/2013 measurement date: $ 25914,564
Total Pension Liability as of 12/31/2014 measurement date: $ 26,685,121
Service Cost for the year ending on the 12/31/2014 measurement date: $ 313,020
Change in the Total Pension Liability due to:
- Benefit changes': $ 0
- Differences between expected and actual experience?; $ 0
- Changes in assumptions?: $ 0
Average expected remaining service lives of all employees (active and inactive): 4

1A change in liability due to benefit changes is immediately recognized when calculating pension expense for the year.

2 Changes in liability due to differences between actual and expected experience, and changes in assumptions, are recognized in pension
expense over the average remaining service lives of all employees.

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to changes in the discount rate:
1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase

(7.25%) Rate (8.25%) (9.25%)
Change in Net Pension Liability as of 12/31/2014:  § 2,955,785 - $ (2,504,941)

Note: The current discount rate shown for GASB 68 purposes is higher than the MERS assumed rate of return.
This is because for GASB 68 purposes, the discount rate must be gross of administrative expenses, whereas
for funding purposes it is net of administrative expenses.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M1 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com
rpe_id: 6655 Page 21 0f5}4



TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Benefit Provision History

The following benefit provision history is provided by MERS. Any corrections to this history or

discrepancies between this information and information displayed elsewhere in the valuation report

should be reported to MERS. All provisions are listed by date of adoption.

%01 = Non-Union

1/1/2012
1/1/2012
3/1/2011
3/1/2011
3/1/2011
3/1/2011

3172011

3/172011
3/1/2011
3/1/2011

10 - Union

1/1/2012
1/1/2012
3/112011
3/1/2011
3112011
3/1/2011
3/1/2011
3/1/2011
3/1/2011
3/1/2011

E1 2.5% COLA for past retirees (03/01/2011)

E2 2.5% COLA for future retirees (03/01/2011)
Benefit FAC-5 (5 Year Final Average Compensation)
10 Year Vesting

Exclude Temporary Employees

Day of work defined as 8 Hours a Day for All employees.

Benefit B-3 (80% max)

Benefit F55 (With 25 Years of Service)
Member Contribution Rate 0.00%
Fiscal Month - July

E1 2.5% COLA for past retirees (01/01/1991)

E2 2.5% COLA for future retirees (03/01/2011)
Benefit FAC-5 (5 Year Final Average Compensation)
6 Year Vesting

Exclude Temporary Employees

Day of work defined as 8 Hours a Day for All employees.

Benefit B-3 (80% max)

Benefit F50 (With 25 Years of Service)
Member Contribution Rate 0.00%
Fiscal Month - July

§12 - Union hired after 7/1/2012

rpc_id: 6655

71172012
71172012
71172012
71112012
711/2012
7172012
71112012
3/1/2011

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, MI 48152 / retirement.cbiz.com

Benefit FAC-5 (5 Year Final Average Compensation)
6 Year Vesting
Non Standard Compensation Definition

Day of work defined as 5 Hours a Day for All employees.

Benefit C-1 (New)

Benefit F55 (With 25 Years of Service)

E2 2.5% COLA for future retirees (07/01/2012)
Fiscal Month - July

Page 22 of 5*_5



Plan Provisions, Actuarial Assumptions, and Actuarial Funding Method

TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER (2811)

Details on MERS plan provisions, actuarial assumptions, and actuarial methodology can be found in
the Appendix. Some actuarial assumptions are specific to this municipality and its divisions. These are

listed below.

Increase in Final Average Compensation

Division

FAC Increase
Assumption

All Divisions

0.00%

Withdrawal Rate Scaling Factor

Division

Withdrawal Rate
Scaling Factor

All Divisions

100%

Miscellaneous and Technical Assumptions

Loads — None.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / relirement.chiz.com

rpc_id: 6655

Page 23 of%



Municipal Employees’ Retirement System

MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MICHIGAN
APPENDIX TO THE ANNUAL ACTUARIAL VALUATION REPORT DECEMBER 31, 2014

Summary of Plan Provisions, Actuarial Assumptions and Actuarial Funding Method
as of December 31, 2014

57



Introduction

An actuarial valuation is the mathematical process that estimates plan liabilities and employer contribution requirements for
purposes of funding the individual employer plans within MERS. This process is repeated annually to update the liabilities
and contribution requirements for changes in member census and plan features, and to reflect actual plan experience in
the process. The valuation reflects the present provisions of the Municipal Employees' Retirement Act of 1984, as
amended by 1986 Public Act 220 (as amended), as embodied in the MERS Plan Document (as revised). The specific
benefit provisions in effect for each municipality are listed in Table 2 in the municipality's actuarial report.

In addition to using current membership and financial data, an actuarial valuation requires the use of a series of
assumptions regarding uncertain future events. The assumptions and methods used in the December 31, 2014 Actuarial
Valuation are those adopted by the Retirement Board. The most recent study of plan experience covered the period from
December 31, 2003 through December 31, 2008. The actuarial assumptions are unchanged from those used in the
December 31, 2013 valuations.

There have been no changes in the funding method, adopted by the Retirement Board beginning with the December 31,
1993 valuations. The basic funding method is entry age normal and employer contribution amounts are developed as a
level percentage of projected payroll for employee divisions that are open to new employees.

The actuarial valuation computations were made by or under the supervision of a Member of the American Academy of
Actuaries (MAAA).

Details on MERS plan provisions, acluarial assumptions, and actuarial methodology follow this section.

Assumption and Method Changes
for the December 31, 2014 Actuarial Valuation

There are no changes in actuarial assumptions or methods affecting the December 31, 2014 Actuarial Valuations.

2009-2013 Experience Study

The 2009-2013 Five-Year Experience Study will be completed in Summer, 2015 and will first impact the December 31,
2015 Acluarial Valuations (affecting contribution requirements for fiscal years beginning in 2017).  The experience study
will likely result in changes in the assumptions and methods, which would impact future contribution requirements. Note
the assumptions and methods do not impact the ultimate cost of the plan; they only impact the pattern of contributions.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / http:f/retirement.cbiz.com

Page 2 of 29

58



Summary of Plan Provisions — Defined Benefit Plan’

The benefits summarized in this section are intended only as general information regarding the Municipal Employees’
Retirement System of Michigan. They are not a substitute for Act. No. 220 of the Public Acts of 1996, and the MERS Plan
Document {as revised). if any conflict occurs between the information in this summary and Act. No, 220 of the Public Acts
of 1896 (as amended) or the MERS Plan Document {as revised), the provisions of Act. No. 220 and the MERS Plan
Document govern.

Eligibility for Retirement

MERS members are eligible to retire at:

s Age 60 with enough credited service to be vested (see below).
s Age 55 with 15 or more years of credited service.
+ Age 50 with 25 or more years of credited service.

The retirement allowance is reduced 'z of 1% for each complete manth that the retirement date precedes 60. The reduction
may be partially or fully waived by adopting the early retirement provisions outlined below.

Optional Retirement Programs (Unreduced Benefits)

e Age 50 with a required period of credited service of either 25 or 30 years.
e Age 55 with a required period of credited service of 15, 20, 25 or 30 years.
s Any age with a required period of credited service of 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 28 or 30 years.

Mandatory Retirement

None.

Deferred Retirement (Vesting)

Retirement can be deferred if membership is terminated before age 60 other than by retirement or death, after becoming
vested (10 years of credited service is required for vesting, adopting 5, 8, 7, 8 or 9 year vesting is optional). The retirement
allowance begins when the application is filed with MERS and eligibility requirements for retirement are met. The deferred
retirement allowance is computed in the same manner as a service retirement allowance, based on the benefit program in
effect as of the date of termination of membership.

Rights to an allowance are forfeited if the member’s accumulated contributions are refunded after termination of
employment.

! Please see the description of the Hybrid Plan beginning on page 9.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / http://retirement.chiz.com

Page 3 of 29

59




Final Average Compensation (FAC)

MERS Plan benefits are based on a member's FAC, subject to the dollar compensation limits under Section 401(a)(17) of
the Internal Revenue Code. For this purpose, FAC means one-fifth of the aggregate amount of compensation paid to a
member and earned during the period of 5 consecutive years of the member’s credited service in which the aggregate
compensation paid is highest. The employer may optionally adopt an FAC averaged over 3 or more years, instead of 5

years.

Service Retirement Allowance
Credited service at time of termination of membership is multiplied by one of the following options:

1.00% of FAC to 2.50% of FAC, in increments of 0.05% of FAC, as adopted by the employer, with a maximum
benefit of 80% of FAC.
1.0% of FAC (no 80% of FAC maximum). May not be adopted after January 2, 1986.
1.3% of FAC {(no 80% of FAC maximum).
Sum of 1.0% times the first $4,200 of FAC, plus 1.5% times the portion of FAC over $4,200. No 80% of FAC
maximum, May not be adopted after January 2, 1986.
1.5% of FAC (no 80% of FAC maximumj.
Sum of 1.2% times the first $4,200 of FAC, plus 1.7% times the portion of FAC over $4,200. No 80% of FAC
maximum. May not be adopted after January 2, 1986.
1.7% of FAGC (no 80% of FAC maximum).
2.0% of FAC, payable until attainment of the age at which unreduced Social Security benefits are available
(currently age 66 for normal retirement, gradually increasing to age 67). When this age is reached, the benefit
reverts to between 1.0% of FAC and 1.7% of FAC adopted by the employer. No 80% of FAC maximum.
2.0% of FAC {(no 80% of FAC maximum).
Bridged Benefit: For service prior fo the Bridged Benefit date, one of the above Benefit Program multiplier
percentages of FAC (FAC may be frozen at the Bridged Benefit Date, or may be as of termination of
membership). For service after the Bridged Benefit date, one of the above Benefit Program multiplier percentages
of FAC (at termination of membership). The combined benefit may not exceed the larger of:

(i) the above benefit based on service prior to the Bridged Benefit date; and

(i) 80% of FAC at termination of employment.

Maximum Benefit Payable by MERS

The maximum benefit that may be paid by MERS is governed by Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code. Benefits in
excess of the maximum benefit will be paid by the MERS Excess Benefit Plan.

CRIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laure! Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / hitp://retirement.chiz.com

Page 4 of 29

60



Act 88 (Reciprocal Retirement Act, 1961 P.A. 88)

If the municipality has elected to come under the provision of Act 88 (see Table 2 in your municipality's actuarial report),
service with former and future public employers in Michigan may be used to satisfy the service eligibility conditions of
MERS. MERS maintains a statewide Act 88 adoption list:

https://femployerportal.mersofmich.com/SharepointFormsService/Default.aspx?FormName=form 77.pdf

Disability Retirement Allowance

Total and permanent disability while employed by a participating municipality and after meeting the vesting requirement of
the benefit program. The service requirement is waived if the disability is the natural and proximate resuit of
duty-connected causes.

The allowance is computed in the same manner as a service retirement allowance, except that the reduction for retirement
before age 60 is not applied.

If disability is due to duty-connected causes, the amount of the retirement allowance shall not be less than 25% of the
member's FAC.

Adoption of optional Benefit Program D-2 provides a retirement allowance for a duty-connected disability that is the greater
of:

(i) 25% of the member's FAC; or
(i) A benefit based on 10 years of credited service in addition to the member's actual period of setvice, provided
the total years of service do not exceed the greater of 30 years or the member's actual period of service.

Non-Duty Death Allowance

If a member or vested former member with the minimum years of service required to be vested dies before retirement, a
monthly survivor allowance may be payable.

If the member is married, the spouse is the automatic beneficiary untess the spouse, in writing, declines a benefit in favor of
another named beneficiary.

A contingent survivor beneficiary (named in an Option 11 Contingent Beneficiary Designation form filed with MERS) will
receive a retirement allowance computed in the same manner as a service retirement allowance, based on service and
FAC at death, but reduced to reflect an Option Ii (100% joint and survivor) election. The reduction for retirement before age
60 is not applied. Payment of a retirement allowance to the contingent survivor beneficiary of a deceased member
commences immediately. Payment of a retirement allowance to the contingent survivor beneficiary of a deceased vested
former member commences on the date the member would have first satisfied eligibility for retirement with an unreduced
service retirement allowance.

If there is no named beneficiary and the member leaves a spouse, the spouse will receive an Option 1l survivor allowance.
Payment of a retirement allowance to the surviving spouse of a deceased member commences immediately. Payment of a
retirement allowance to the surviving spouse of a deceased vested former member commences on the date the member
would have first satisfied eligibility for retirement for an unreduced service retirement allowance. The amount of a surviving
spouse's retirement allowance shall be 85% of the deceased member's or deceased vested former member's accrued

CBIZ Rstirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M] 48152 J hitp:firetirement.cbiz.com

Page 5 of 296 1



retirement allowance computed in the same manner as a service retirement allowance, based on service and FAC at time
of death.

The amount of a surviving spouse's benefit is always the larger of:

(i} the bensfit computed as a contingent survivor beneficiary; and
(i) the 85% of accrued retirement allowance benefit described above.

If there is no named beneficiary and no retirement allowance being paid to a surviving spouse, unmarried children under
age 21 will be paid an equal share of 50% of the deceased member's or deceased vested former member's accrued
retirement allowance. The reduction for retirement before age 60 is not applied.

If no retirement allowance becomes payable at death, the member's accumulated contributions, if any, are paid to the
beneficiary or to the decedent's estate.

Duty-Connected Death Allowance

A duty death allowance, computed in the same manner as a non-duty death allowance, may be payable to a spouss or
child{ren} if death occurs as the natural and proximate result of performance of duty with a participating municipality. The
vesting requirement is waived, and the minimurn benefit is 25% of the deceased member's FAC.

Adoption of optional Benefit Program D-2 provides a retirement allowance for a duty-connected death that is the greater of:

() 25% of the member's FAC; or
(i) A benefit based on 10 years of credited service in addition to the member's actual period of service, provided
the total years of service do not exceed the greater of 30 years or the member's actual period of service.

Member Contributions

Each member contributes a percent of annual compensation, as selected by the municipality, on the member's annual
compensation up to the compensation limit under Section 401(a)(17) of the internal Revenue Code. Any percentage from
0% to 10% (in 0.1% increments) may be selected. A 3%/5% contribution program was available prior to 1885 and may be
continued (until any new benefit programs are adopted}, but not adopted, after 1984. Under this program they contribute
3% of the first $4,200 of annual compensation and 5% of portions of annual compensation over $4,200. Interest is credited
to accumulated member contributions each December 31 (and reftected in the Annual Member Statement provided to each
member) at a rate determined by MERS, currently the one-year U.S. Treasury Bill rate determined as of each December
31. The interest rate credited for the 12-month period ending on the valuation date was 0.22%.

If a member leaves the employ of the municipality or dies without a retirement allowance or other benefit payable on their
account, the mermber’s accumulated coniributions plus interest {as described above) are refunded with spousal consent, to
the member, if living, or to the member’s surviving spouse, if any, or to a named beneficiary (after spousal consent, if
applicable).

Note for MERS' Defined Contribution Plan: The Annual Actuarial Valuation addresses assets and liabilities for
participation under the MERS Defined Bensfit Plan and Hybrid Plan. The MERS Defined Contribution Plan, which first
hecame available for adoption in late 1997, is nof addressed in the valuation results as it is not a defined benefit plan.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / htip:/iretirement.cbiz.com

Page 6 of 29

62



Post-Retirement Adjustments
Employers may adopt post-retirement cost-of-living adjustments (COLA):

One-Time GOLA for present retirees and beneficiaries. The amount of the increase is equal to the number of years since
the later of retirement or the date specified in the adopting resolution times either:

(i) a fixed percentage of the present benefit; or

(i) a fixed dollar amount.
This COLA may be readopted from time to time.

Annual COLA — provides automatic annual benefit increases. The COLA may apply to either:
(iy retirees {and their beneficiaries) retired before the effective date of the COLA; or
(i} retirees {and their beneficiaries) retired on or after the effective date of the COLA.
The amount of the annual increase may be either:
(i) a percentage of the original (base) retirement benefit (non-compounded COLA); or
(i) a percentage of the present retirement benefit (compounded COLA); or
(i) a fixed dollar amount.
Such increases are further limited to increases in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) if the COLA was adopted before January
1, 1999. For all adoptions or readoptions after that date, the increase is not limited by the CPl increase.

Death-After-Retirement Surviving Spouse Benefit

A retiring member electing the Straight Life (highest) form of retirement payment is normally paid a lifetime retirement
allowance, with payments terminating at death. The retiring member could provide benefits to a surviving spouse or
another named beneficiary by electing Option 1l {100% continuation to beneficiary) or Option II-A (75% continuation to
beneficiary) or Option 1ll (50% continuation to beneficiary). A surviving spouse is automatically the beneficiary to an Option
11, A or Il allowance unless the spouse, in writing, relinquishes the benefit to the member electing a Straight Life
allowance or to another named beneficiary. Electing these alternate forms of payment would lower the retiring member's
retirement allowance.

If Benefit Program RS850% is adopted, a member retiring on or after the effective date of Benefit RS50% may elect the
Straight Life form of retirement payment and still provide a 50% survivor benefit to their spouse. To be eligible for a
surviving spouse benefit, the retiring member and spouse must have been married to each other both at the time of death
and during the full one-year period just before retirement.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Mi 48152 / http://relirement.cbiz.com

Page 7 of 29
63



Delayed Retirement Option Partial Lump Sum (DROP+)
Any member who is eligible to retire with full, immediate retirement benefits has the option to:
(i) Retire immediately and receive a monthly benefit payable immediately; or
(i) Delay their retirement date and continue to work.
If the member is covered by DROP+ and they retire at least 12 months after first becoming eligible for unreduced benefits,
at actual retirement the member has the option to receive a partial lump sum and a reduced monthly benefit:

(i) The member can elect a lump sum equal to 12, 24, 36, 48, or 60 times the their monthly accrued benefit (if they
have delayed retirement at least that many months).

(i) For each 12 months included in the lump sum, the member's lifetime benefit is reduced by the DROP+
percentage adopted by the employer. The employer can adopt any of the following DROP+ reduction
percentages: 6%, 7%, 8%, 9% or 10%.

DROP+ may not be adopted after June 30, 2013.

Non-Standard Benefit Provisions

Some municipalities have collectively bargained benefit provisions that differ from the benefit provisions described in this
section. Such benefit provisions, if any, are listed in Table 2 of a municipality's annual actuarial valuation report, or are
reflected in the actuarial assumptions that are specific to a municipality and are listed on the last page of a municipality’s
annual actuariat valuation report.

CBIZ Retirament Plan Services / 17187 N. Laure! Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 [ hitp://retirement.chiz.com

Page 8 of 29

04



Summary of Plan Provisions — Hybrid Plan’

The benefits summarized in this section are intended only as general information regarding the Municipal Employees’
Retirement System of Michigan. They are not a substitute for Act. No. 220 of the Public Acts of 1996, and the MERS Plan
Document as revised. If any conflict occurs between the information in this summary and Act, No. 220 of the Public Acts of
1996 (as amended), or the MERS Plan Document (as revised), the provisions of Act. No. 220 and the MERS Plan
Document govern.

Hybrid Plan Part | — Defined Benefit Portion

Eligibility for Retirement

Members are eligible to retire at age 60 with 6 or more years of service.

Optional Retirement Programs (Unreduced Benefits)
Age 55 with a required period of credited service of 25 years.

Mandatory Retirement
None

Deferred Retirement (Vesting)

Retirement can be deferred if membership is terminated before age 60 other than by retirement or death, after becoming
vested (6 years of credited service is required for vesting). The retirement allowance begins when the application is filed
with MERS and eligibility requirements for retirement are met. The deferred retirement allowance is computed in the same
manner as a service retirement allowance, based on the final average compensation and years of setvice at termination of
membership.

Final Average Compensation (FAC)

Benefits are based on a member's FAC, subject to the dollar compensation limits under Section 401{a){17) of the Internal
Revenue Code. For this purpose, FAC means one-third of the aggregate amount of compensation paid to a member and
earned during the period of 3 consecutive years of the member's credited service in which the aggregate compensation
paid is highest.

! please see the description of the Defined Benefit Plan beginning on page 3.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laure! Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 { hitp://relirement.cbiz.com

Page 9 of 28

65



Service Retirement Allowance
Credited service at time of termination of membership is multiplied by one of the following options:

Hybrid 1.0% 1.0% of a member's FAC
Hybrid 1.25% 1.25% of FAC

Hybrid 1.5% 1.5% of FAC

Hybrid 1.75% " 1.75% of FAC

Hybrid 2.0% 2.0% of FAC

' Available to those without social security coverage.

Maximum Benefit Payable by MERS

The maximum benefit that may be paid by MERS is governed by Seclion 415 of the Internal Revenue Code. Benefits in
excess of the maximum benefit will be paid by the MERS Excess Benefit Plan,

Act 88 (Reciprocal Retirement Act, 1961 P.A. 88)

If the municipality has elected to come under the provision of Act 88 (see Table 2 in your municipality’s actuarial report},
service with former and future public employers in Michigan may be used to satisfy the service eligibility conditions of
MERS. MERS maintains a statewide Act 88 adoption list:

https://femployerportal.mersofmich.com/SharepointFormsService/Default.aspx?FormName=form 77 .pdf

Disability Retirement Allowance
Benefits are the same as under the Defined Benefit Plan, except that optional Benefit Program D-2 does not apply.

Non-Duty Death Allowance

Benefits are the same as under the Defined Benefit Plan.

Duty-Connected Death Allowance
Benefits are the same as under the Defined Benefit Plan, except that optional Benefit Program D-2 does not apply.

Member Contributions

None, unless required to comply with a state statute that places restrictions on employer contributions to retirement plans.
Each municipality’s actuarial valuation reftects the member conlribution provisions reported by MERS.

Post-Retirement Adjustments
Not available.

Death-After-Retirement Surviving Spouse Benefit

The same optional forms of payment are available as under the Defined Benefit Plan, except that the optional Benefit
Program RS50% does not apply.

Delayed Retirement Option Partial Lump Sum (DROP+)

Not available.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250  Livonia, Ml 48152 / http://retirement.cbiz.com

Page 10 of 29

66



Hybrid Plan Part il - Defined Contribution Portion

Employer Contributions and Vesting
The employer contribution amount is any percentage of compensation allowed by federal law.,

The vesting schedule for employer contributions is one of the following schedules, as adopted by the employer:

(i) Immediate vesting upon participation; or

(i) 100% vesting after stated years (participant is 100% vested after nof to exceed maximum 5 years of service
{"cliff" vesting)); or

(iiy Graded vesting percentages per year of service, not to excead maximum 6 years of service for 100% vesting,
nor be less than certain stated minimums.

Member Contributions and Vesting
The member contribution amount is any amount allowed by federal law and subject to procedures established by the
Retirement Board.

The vesting schadute for member contributions is 100% immediate vesting.

Note: The Annual Actuarial Valuation addresses assets and liabilities for participation under the MERS Defined Benefit
Plan and the Defined Benefit portion of the Hybrid Plan. The Defined Contribution portion of the Hybrid Plan is not
addressed in the valuation resuits.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M} 48152 / htlp://retirement.chiz.com

Page 11 of 29

6/




Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan
IRC Section 415(b){1)(A) Benefit Dollar Limits — 2015

The limits are based on the retiree's age at retirement. The limit at ages 62-65 is indexed with inflation, in $5,000
increments. The limits at earlier ages are then increased proportionately. The limit applies to the retiree’s or beneficiary's
employer-financed straight life benefit, except in the case of an Option 11, 1A, or [li election with the retiree’s spouse as
named beneficiary, in which case the limit applies to the employer-financed portion of the reduced joint and survivor
benefit.

| Age at Retirement General Employees Police and Fire Members'
35 $ 38,506 $210,000
36 40,687 210,000
37 43,005 210,000
38 45,471 210,000
39 48,096 210,000
40 50,892 210,000
41 53,873 210,000
42 57,054 210,000
43 60,451 210,000
44 64,082 210,000
45 67,967 210,000
46 72,128 210,000
47 76,590 210,000
48 81,380 210,000
49 86,528 210,000
50 92,070 210,000
51 98,043 210,000
52 104,492 210,000
53 111,465 210,000
54 119,017 210,000
55 127,213 210,000
56 136,122 210,000
57 145,825 210,000
58 156,414 210,000
59 167,995 210,000
60 180,688 210,000
61 194,636 210,000
62 210,000 210,000
63 240,000 210,000
64 210,000 210,000
65 & older 210,000 210,000

! Requires that the member have at least 15 years of police, fire, andfor armed forces
service as defined in IRC regulations. Otherwise use the limits for general members.,

IRC Section 401(a)(17) Compensation Limit — 2015
For 2015 the IRC Section 401(a}(17) limit is $265,000. This limit is indexed with inflation in $5,000 increments.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 [ hitp://retirement.cbiz.com

Page 12 of 28

68



Actuarial Assumptions

To calculate MERS contribution requirements, assumptions are made about future events that could affect the amount and
timing of benefits to be paid and the assets to be accumulated. The economic and demographic assumptions include:

+ An assumed rate of investment return that is used to discount liabilities and project what plan assets will earn.

¢ A mortality table projecting the number of members who will die before retirement and the duration of benefit
payments after retirament.

« Assumed retirement rates projecting when members will retire and commence receiving retirement benefits.

« A set of withdrawal and disability rates to estimate the number of members who will leave the work force
before retirement.

+ Assumed rates of pay increase to project member compensation in future years.

The actuarial assumptions used in connection with this December 31, 2014 Actuarial Valuation are unchanged from the
December 31, 2013 valuation assumptions. The actuarial assumptions currently used are summatized below and on the
following pages.

Interest Rate

Funding plan benefits involves the accumulation of assets to pay benefits in the future. These assets are invested and the
net rate of investment earnings is a significant factor in determining the contributions required to support the ultimate cost
of benefits. For the 2014 actuarial valuation, the long-term investment yield is assumed to be 8% annually, net of
administrative and investment expenses. This assumption was first used for the December 31, 1981 actuarial valuations.

Please naote that, given that the actuarial value of assets is currently 6% higher than the market value, meeting the actuarial
assumption in the next few years will require average annual market returns that exceed the 8% investment return
assumption.

Please see the Comments on the Investment Markets in your municipality’s Annual Actuarial Valuation Report.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 [ htip://retirement.cbiz.com

Page 13 of 29
69



Pay Increases

Because benefits are based on a member's final average compensation (FAC), it is necessary to make an assumption with
respect to each member’s estimated pay progression. The pay increase assumption used in the actuarial valuation projects
annual pay increases of 4.5% in the long term (2% and 3% for calendar years 2015 and 2016, respectively) plus a
percentage based on an age-related scale to reflect merit, longevily and promotional pay increases.

The pay increase assumption for selected ages is shown below. The 4.5% long-term wage inflation assumption was first
used for the December 31, 1997 actuarial valuations. The merit and longevity pay increase assumption was first used for
the December 31, 2011 actuarial vaiuations.

Base Merit and Total Percentage
Age {(Wage Ini’lation)1 Longevity Increase in Pay
20 4.50% 13.00% 17.50%
25 4.50 6.80 11.30
30 4.50 3.26 7.76
35 4,50 2.05 6.55
40 4.50 1.30 5.80
45 4.50 0.81 5.31
50 4.50 0.52 5.02
55 4.50 0.30 4.80
60 450 0.00 4.50

' For calendar years 2015 and 2016 the wage inflation assumption is 2% and 3%,
respectively, instead of 4.5%. This assumption was first used for the December 31,
2012 actuarial valuations.

Inflation
Although no specific price inflation assumption is needed for this valuation, the 4.5% long-term wage inflation assumption
would be consistent with a price inflation of 3% - 4%.

Payroll Growth

For divisions that are open to new hires, the number of active members is projected to remain constant, and the total
payroll is projected to increase 4.5% annually in the long term (2% and 3% annually for calendar years 2015 and 2018,
respectively). This assumplion was first used for the December 31, 1997 actuarial valuations.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / htip:/fretirement.cbiz.com

Page 14 of 2970




Increase in Final Average Compensation (FAC)

The 1999-2003 and 2004-2008 experience studies determined that for some retirees of some municipalities, the actual
FAC at retirement was larger than would be expected based on reported annual pays and FAC's for the years just before
retirement, Some possible sources for the differences are:

« Lump sum payments for unused paid time off. Unused sick leave payouts have been excluded from FAC since
the mid 1970s. However, since that time it has become popular to combine sick and vacation time into paid
time off, which is included in the FAC. Consequently, the lump sums that are includible in FAC have grown
over the years.

« Extra overtime pay during the final year of employment. Our studies only reflect any increase in overtime
during the final year, not any increase that occurs during the full 3 or more year averaging period.

We analyzed the variation among municipalities. The amount of unexpected FAC increase varies quite a bit between
municipalities. Some municipalities show no sign of FAC loading, while other municipalities show increases above the
average increase. This is presumably the resulit of different personnel policies among municipalities.

The Retirement Board adopted new FAC assumptions that were first used for the December 31, 2011 annual actuarial
valuations. These assumptions reflect an FAC load of 0% to 8% for each municipality, based on the municipality's
experience. The FAC increase assumption(s) for your municipality are shown in your annual actuarial valuation report.
Note that for divisions that adopted Sick Leave in FAC (SLIF), the assumption is developed individually for each division,
based on the specific SLIF provision and/or past experience.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17487 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M1 48152 / hitp:/fretirement.cbiz.com

Page 15 of 29

71



Withdrawal Rates

The withdrawal rates are used to estimate the number of employees at each age that are expected to terminate
employment before qualifying for retirement benefits. The withdrawal rates do not apply to members eligible to retire, and
do not include separation on account of death or disability. The assumed rates of withdrawal applied in the current

valuation are based on years of service, and scaled up or down according to each division's experience.

Sample rates of withdrawal from active employment, before application of the scaling factor, are shown below. These rates
were first used for the December 31, 2008 actuarial valuations.

The base withdrawal rates {see the table below) are multiplied by the scaling factor to obtain the assumed withdrawal rates.
The scaling factor for each division is shown in your actuarial valuation report.

Sample Years
of Service

% of Active Members Withdrawing
Within the Next Year

34 and over

20.00%
17.00
14.00
11.00
9.00
6.50

5.00
3.70
3.00
2.70
2.80
2.40

CBIZ Retiremant Plan Services / 17187 N. Laure! Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / http:/fretirement.cbiz.com

Page 16 of 2

9

72



Retirement Rates
A schedule of retirement rates is used to measure the probability of eligible members retiring during the next year. The

retirement rates for Narmal Retirement are determined by each member's replacement index at the time of retirement. The

replacement index is defined as the approximate percentage of the member's pay (after reducing for their member
contributions) that will be replaced by the member's benefit at retirement. The index is caiculated as:

Replacement Index = 100 x Accrued Benefit divided by [Pay less Member Contributions]

The assumed retirement percentage is 100% at the later of age 70 or a member's age on the valuation date.
Retirement rates for Early (reduced) Retirement are determined by the member's age at early retirement.

The Normal Retirement rates below were first used for the December 31, 2009 actuarial valuations. The Early Retirement
rates were first used for the December 31, 2011 actuarial vaiuations.

Normal Retirement Early Retirement — Reduced Benefit
Percent of Eligible Percent of Eligible
Sample Active Members Active Members
Replacement Retiring Within Retiring Within
Index the Next Year Age the Next Year
5 5% 50 1.60%
10 11 51 1.60
15 16 52 2.30
20 19 53 3.30
25 20 54 4.50
30 20 55 3.50
35 20 56 , 3.25
40 20 57 3.00
45 20 58 4.50
50 20 59 5.75
55 21
60 22
65 24
70 24
75 28
80 32
85 38
90 45
95 48
100+ 50

CBIZ Ratirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / hitp:/iretirement.chiz.com

Page 17 of 29

73



Disability Rates

Disability rates are used in the valuation to estimate the incidence of member disability in future years.

The assumed rates of disablement at various ages are shown below. These rates were first used for the December 31,
2011 actuarial valuations.

Percent Becoming Disabled
Sample Ages Within the Next Year
20 0.02%
25 0.02
30 0.02
35 0.06
40 0.06
45 0.11
50 0.24
55 0.60
60 0.60
65 0.60

Eighty-five percent (85%) of the disabilities are assumed to be non-duty and 15% of the disabilities are assumed to be duty
related. For those plans which have adopted disability provision D-2, 55% of the disabilities are assumed to be non-duty
and 45% are assumed fo be duty related.

Mortality Table

In estimating the amount of the reserves required at the time of retirement to pay a member’s benefit for the remainder of
their iifetime, it is necessary to make an assumption with respect to the probability of surviving to retirement and the life
expectancy after retirement.

The mortality table used to project the mortality experience of plan members is a 50% Male - 50% Female blend of the
1994 Group Annuity Mortality Table. For disabled retirees, the regular mortality table is used with a 10-year set forward in
ages to reflect the higher expected mortality rates of disabled members. These mortality tables were first used for the
December 31, 2004 aciuarial valuations.

Ninety percent (80%) of active member deaths are assumed to be non-duty deaths and 10% of the deaths are assumed to
be duty related.

Possible future mortality improvements are refiected in the mortality assumption. The results of the 2004-2008
Experience Study showed that retirees were not living as long as projected by the current mortality table.  Actual deaths
during the period exceeded expected deaths by 12%.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / hitp:/fretirement.chiz.com

Page 18 of 2974




The life expectancies and mortality rates projected for non-disabled members are shown below for selected ages:

Expected Years
Age of Life Remaining Mortality Rates
20 61.55 0.04%
25 56.68 0.05
30 51.82 0.06
35 46.97 0.07
40 42.13 0.09
45 37.34 0.13
50 32.60 0.20
55 27.98 0.34
60 23.53 0.62
65 19.40 1.18
70 15.66 1.87
75 12.24 2.99
80 9.25 5.07

The life expectancies and mortality rates projected for disabled members are shown below for selected ages:

Expected Years
Age of Life Remaining Mortality Rates
20 51.82 0.06%
25 46.97 0.07
30 42.13 0.09
35 37.34 0.13
40 32.60 0.20
45 27.98 0.34
50 23.53 0.62
55 19.40 1.16
60 15.66 1.87
65 12.24 2.99
70 9.25 5.07
75 6.61 8.25
80 4.85 13.46

CBIZ Relirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laure! Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M! 48152 / http:/fretirement.cbiz.com

Page 19 of 2975




Miscellaneous and Technical Assumptions

Loads

Marriage Assumptions

Pay Increase Timing

Pay Adjustment
Decrement Timing
Future Service

Eligibility Testing

Benefit Service

Eligibility Service

Decrement Relativity

Decrement Operation

Normal Form of Payment

Incidence of Contributions

Vesting liabilities are increased by 2% to reflect the value of the potential
survivor benefit payable in case of death during the benefit deferral period.

Seventy percent (70%) of males and 70% of females are assumed to be
married for purposes of death-in-service benefits. Male spouses are
assumed to be three years cider than female spouses.

Beginning of valuation year. This is equivalent to assuming that reported
pays represent amounts paid to members during the year ended on the
vaiuation date.

None.
Decrements of all types are assumed to occur mid-year.
Members are assumed to earn 1.0 years of service in each future year.

Eiigibility for benefits is determined based upon the age nearest birthday
and service nearest whole year on the date the decrement is assumed to
OCCuy.

Exacl fractional service is used to determine the amount of benefit payable.
Benefit service is the service used in the benefit formula.

The larger of reported Eligibility Service and reported Vesting Service was
used as eligibility service in the valuation. Eligibility service is the service
used to meet the conditions for retirement, and is generally equal to or
larger than henefit service.

Decrement rates are used directly from the experience study, without
adjustment for multiple decrement table effects.

Disability and withdrawal do not operate during retirement eligibility.

Future retiring members are assumed to elect the Straight Life form of
payment (see page 7 regarding death-after-retirement benefits).

Contributions are assumed to be received continuously throughout the year
based upon the computed percent of payroll shown in this report, and the
actual payroll payable at the time contributions are made. New enfrant
normal cost coniributions are applied to the funding of new entrant benefits.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / http://retirement.cbiz.com

Page 20 of 297 6



Maximum Compensation

Maximum Benefit

Member Contribution Interest

DROP+ Assumptions

Data Adjustments

The dollar compensation limits under Section 401(a){17) of the Intarnal
Revenue Code are projected to increase 4.5% annually. No member or
employer contributions are projected to be made on the portion of any
member's annual compensation in excess of the IRC Section 401(a)(17)
fimit for the year.

The dollar benefit limitations under Section 415 of the Internal Revenue
Code are projected to increase 4.5% annually. Employee divisions 02,
20-29 {Police}, 05 and 50-59 (Fire) are presumed eligible for the public
safety benefit limits. No benefits in excess of the IRC 415 limits are
projected to be paid, except as provided under the Qualified Excess Benefit
Arrangement,

The interest rate credited on member contributions is the one-year
Treasury Bill rate as of Dacember 31, determined annually. The long-term
rate assumed in the vaiuation is 4%, which is consistent with the 3% to 4%
price inflation assumption.

Each eligible member is assumed to make the DROP+ election with the
most valuable combination of lump sum and reduced manthly benefit.

The retirement probabilities shown earlier are used for members who are
not covered by Benefit Program DROP+. For those covered by Benefit
Program DROP+, it is assumed that retirement will be delayed long enough
to became eligible for at least 4 years' worth of DROP+ jump sum.

The gender was not reported for a small number of active members. These
active members were assumed to be male.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Servicas / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / hitp:/fretirement.chiz.com

Page 21 of 2977



Actuarial Funding Method

The Retirement Board has adopted funding methodology for the Retirement System to achieve the following major
objectives:
« Develop level required contribution rates as a percentage of payroll {for divisions that are open to new hires);

« Finance benefits earned by present employees on a current basis;

+« Accumulate assets to enhance members' benefit security;

» Produce investment earnings on accumulated assets to help meet future benefit costs;

+ Make it possible to estimate the long-term actuarial cost of proposed amendments to System provisions; and

¢ Assist in maintaining the Retirement System’s long-term financial viability.

The basic funding objective is a level pattern of cost as a percentage of pay throughout each member’s waorking lifetime.
The funding method used in this actuarial valuation — the entry age normal cost method — was first used for the December
31, 1993 actuarial valuations and is intended to:

(i) Meet this funding objective; and
(i) Resultin a relatively level long-term contribution requirement as a percentage of pay.

Under the entry age normal cost method, the total actuarially-determined contribution requirement is equal to the sum of

the normal cost plus the payment required to fund the unfunded actuarial accrued liability over a period of years. Funding
or amortizing the unfunded actuarial accrued liability includes a payment toward the liability (principal) plus a payment to

reflect the time value of money {interest).

Normal Cost

ln general terms, the normal cost is the cost of benefit rights accruing on the basis of current service. Technically, the
normal cost rate is the level percentage-of-pay contribution required each year, with respect to each member, to
accumulate over their projected working lifetime the reserves needed to meet the cost of earned benefits. The normal cost
represents the ultimate cost of the Retirement System, if the unfunded liability is paid up and the actual experience of the
System conforms to the assumptions.

Actuarial Accrued Liability

The total actuarial present value of future benefits is computed using the valuation’s actuariai assumptions. Sublracting the
present value of future normal costs results in the actuarial accrued liability.

The total actuarial accrued liability essentially represents the amount that would have been accumulated as of December
31, 2014, if:
(i) Contributions sufficient to meet the normal costs of the Retirement System had been made each year in the past;
(i) Benefit provisions had always been the same as current benefit provisions; and
(iiiy Actual past experience had always conformed to current actuarial assumptions.

If assets equaled the total accrued liability, there would be no unfunded lability and future contribution requirements would
consist solely of the calculated normal cost rates.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, MI 48152 / http:/fretirement.cbiz.com

Page 22 of 297 8




Amortization of Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability

The unfunded accrued liability as of December 31, 2014 {see Table 6 of your municipality’s annual actuarial valuation
report) is projected to the beginning of the fiscal year for which employer contributions are being calculated {fiscal year
beginning in 2016). This allows the 2014 valuation to take info account the expected future contributions that are based on
past valuations. This projection process will result in more stable computed contribution rates, and was first used for the
December 31, 2004 actuarial valuations.

The projected unfunded accrued liability is then amortized over the appropriate period for each division {see Table 1 of
your municipality’s annual actuarial valuation report) to determine the amortization payment. For divisions that will have no
new hires this is the dollar amortization payment. For divisions that are open to new hires this payment is divided by the
projected fiscal year payroll to determine the amortization payment as a percentage of active member payroll. The resulting
amortization contributions are displayed in Table 1 for each division. For purposes of determining the amortization
payment, paymentis are projected to increase 4,5% a year.,

The standard amortization period to fund the unfunded liability is 24 years for positive unfunded fiabilities in the 2014
valuation. This period will be reduced by one year in each successive annual valuation, until the unfunded lability is paid
off. Section 20m of Act No. 314 of the Public Acts of 1965 as amended (MCL. 38.1140m) requires that the amortization
period not exceed 30 years.

The standard amortization period for negative unfunded liabilities is 10 years, with the 10 year period reestablished with
each annual actuarial valuation,

For divisions that are closed to new hires, and the new hires are not covered by MERS Defined Benefit Plan or Hybrid Plan
provisions {in a linked division), the amortization period is shortened in order to ensure adequate funding of the closed
division. The employer has two amortization options. Under Amortization Option A, the otherwise applicable MERS-wide
standard amortization period for positive unfunded liabilities in effect in the valuation year in which the division is closed is
decreased annually by 2 years until the period reaches 6 or 5 years. Each year thereafter the amortization period
decreases one year each valuation year until the unfunded liability is paid off. Under Amortization Option B, the
amortization period is decreased annualty by 2 years until the period reaches 16 or 15 years, Each year thereafter the
amortization period decreases one ysar each valuation year uniil the unfunded liability is paid off. ln addition, the
minimum contribution requirement for a closed division is equal to the excess of three years of annual retiree benefit
payments over the current market value of assets. An employer that elected Amortization Option A may later change to
Amortization Option B.

Amortization periods that are shorter than the above standard periods may be elected by a municipality {but not shorter
than 5 years for negative unfunded liabilities), and some municipalities have done so.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / http:/fretirement.cbhiz.com

Page 23 of 297 9




Open Divisions and Closed Divisions

Open divisions will include the future new hires within an employee classification (bargaining unit). Rehired members will
also hecome members of the open division. Members transferred to the employee classification will also become members
of the open division, unless the Alternate Transfer Provision is adopted by the municipality. In the latter case, each
transferring member is given a choice of entering the open division or a closed division within the employee classification (if
there are stili active members in the closed division, and the closed division is of the same type - defined benefit, hybrid, or
defined contribution - as the division from which the member transferred).

There may also be one or more divisions within the employee classification that no longer accept new hires. These are
generally referred to as closed divisions, but in some situations are linked to the open division with the new hires (for
actuarial valuation purposes - see Linked Divisions below). Note that a division is also treated like a closed division if the
division has no active members reported as of the valuation date.

Linked Divisions

The closed division funding policy was adopted by the Retirement Board {Amanded Amortization Policy for Closed
Divisions Within Open Municipalities, as revised by the Retirement Board on November 13, 2014). The purpose is to
ensure that a defined benefit division that is closed to new hires does not run out of money. Funding the unfunded liabitities
over the MERS standard amorlization period will often deplete a closed division’s assets before the death of the last
participant in the division. Assets cannot be shared between the closed defined benefit division and a defined contribution
plan covering the new hires, or a non-MERS defined benefit plan covering the new hires, even if the employees are part of
the same employee classification (bargaining unit).

However, if the new hires, transfers and rehires are covered by a new tier of benefits in the MERS Defined Benefit Plan
(including the defined benefit portion of the MERS Hybrid Plan), there can be a sharing of employer assets between the
defined benefit division with no new hires {with the old benefit structure) and the defined benefit or hybrid division covering
the new hires within the same employee classification. The employer can avoid the required more rapid amortization of the
unfunded liabilities by putting new hires into a MERS Defined Benefit Plan or MERS Hybrid Plan division, instead of a
defined contribution plan or non-MERS defined benefit plan.

if a division with no new hires is “linked” to an open MERS Defined Benefit Plan or MERS Hybrid Plan division, this is
indicated in Table 2 of your municipality’s annual actuarial valuation report. Both of the linked divisions will use the
standard open division funding policy.

CBIZ Refirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 f http://retirement.cbiz.com

Page 24 of 29

30



Asset Valuation Method

The actuarial value of assets is determined on the basis of a method that calculates expected investment income at the
valuation rate of return and adds a portion of the difference between the expected investment income and actual
investment income earned on a market value basis. The difference in investment income between expected return and
market return is recognized over a 10-year period at the rate of 10% per year. This asset valuation method was first
adopted for the December 31, 2005 valuation, and is applied as follows:

Actuarial Value equals:

(i) Actuarial value of assets from the previous actuarial valuation; plus

(i) Aggregate employer and member contributions since the last valuation; minus

(i) Benefit payments and refunds of member contributions since the last valuation; plus
(iv} Estimated investment income at the 8% valuation interest rate; plus

(v) Portion of gain {loss} recognized in the current valuation.

For the above purpose, gain (foss) is defined as the excess during the period of the investment return on the market value
of assets over the expected Investment income. The portion recognized in the valuation is 10% of the current year's gain
{loss) plus 10% of the gain (loss) from each of the 9 preceding years. The cumulative difference bastween the market valus
and vaiuation assets as of December 31, 2005 is recognized over 9 years.

During 2014, the approximate net investment return on average total assets at actuarial value (determined as the actuarial
value of investment income divided by the average actuarial value of assets during the year) was 5.90%. The
corresponding amounts for 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010 were 6.04%, 5.42%, 5.19% and 5.74%, respectively.

For the December 31, 2014 valuation, the actuarial value of assets is equal to 105.99% of market value {compared to
106.18%, 114.36%, 120.58% and 116.29% in 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively}. This percentage is applied to
each division's reported market vaiue of assets to estimate the actuarial value of assets for the division. The chart on the
following pages provides the details of the derivation of the actuarial value of assets for the retirement system in the
aggregate.

Note that, given that the actuarial value of assets is currently 6% higher than the market value, meeting the actuarial
assumption in the next few years will require average annual market returns that exceed the 8% investment return
assumption.

Please see the Comments on the Investment Markets in your municipality’s annual actuarial valuation report.

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / htip://iretirement.chbiz.com

Page 25 of 29

81




Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan
Derivation of Actuarial Value of Assets

Valuation Date December 31

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

1, Beginning of Year Assets
a) Market Value
o) Valuation Assats

2. End of Year Market Value
Assels

3. MNet Additions to Market

Value

a) Net Contributions

b) Met Investment Income
= (3d) ~ (3a) - (3¢)

¢) Benefit Paymenis

d) Total Additions to
Market Value = (2) -

(13}

4, Average Valualion Assels
= {1b) + .5x[(3a)+(3c)]

5. Expected income at
Yaluation Rate = 8% x (4)

8. Gain (Loss) = (3b} - (5)

7. Phased-In Recogaition of

Investment Return

a)} Current Year: 0.2 x (6)

b} First Prior Year

¢) Second Prior Year

d} Third Prior Year

e} Fourth Prior Year

f) 1998-2003 Years
Combined

g) Total Recognized
Investment Gain (Loss)

8. Change in Valuation
Assets (3a) + (3c) + (5) +
(79)

9. End of Year Assats
a) Market Value = {2
b} Valuation Assets
(1b) + (8)
¢} Difference Belween
Market & Valuation
Assets

10. Recognized Rate of Return

=[{58) + (7o) / (4)
11. Market Rate of Return
12. Valualion Asset

Adjustment Factor = (9b) /
(8a)

$3,788,886,471
3,791,423,339

3,647,820,869

154,103,475
{93,269,286)
(201,899,791}

$3,647,820,869
4,034,377,419

3,285,304,333

167,427,558
(324,926,459)
(205,017,635)

$3,285,304,333
4,134,404,645

4,071,997,180

223,450,393
792,139,959
(228,897,505)

$4,071,997,180
4,459,492,020

4,619,201,287

223,057,268
577,562,751
(253,415,912)

$4,619,201,287
4,732,208,229

4,906,288,690

277,589,524
288,223,418
(278,725,539)

(141,065.602)

3,767,525,181

(362,516,536)

4,015,582,381

786,692,847

4,131,681,089

547,204,107

4,444,312,698

287,087,403

4,731,640,222

301,402,014 321,246,590 330,534,487 355,545,016 378,531,218
(394,671,300) (646,173,049) 461,605,472 222,017,735 (90,307,800}
(78,934,260) (129,234,610} 44,403,547 (18,061,560)
(79,670,266) (78,934,260) 44,403,547
63,981,441 (79,670,266)
40,228,410 63,081,441
43,743,057 40,228,408
N/A N/A 0 (95,873,710} (96,873,710)
(10,651,618) (183,629,287) 0 (52,470,183} {70,531,723)
242,954,080 100,027,226 325,087,375 272,716,209 306,863,480

3,647,820,869
4,034,377,419

(366,556,550)

7.72%

{2.48%)

1.105969

3,285,304,333
4,134,404,645

(849,100,312}

3.43%

(8.95%)

1.258454

4,071,997,180
4,459,492,020

(387,494 840)

8.00%

24.13%

1.095161

4,619,201,287
4,732,208,229

{113,006,942)

6.82%

14,24%

1.024465

4,906,288,690
5,039,071,70¢

(132,783,018}

6.51%

6.24%

1.027064

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laure! Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / hitp://retirement.chiz.com

Page 26 of 2

9

32



Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan
Derivation of Actuarial Value of Assets {Cont.)

Valuation Date December 31

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

1.

10.

11.

Beginning of Year Assels
a) Market Value
b) Valuation Assets

End of Year Market Value
Assets

Net Additions to Market

Valug

a) Net Contributions

b) Net Investment Income
= (3d) - (3a) - (3¢)

¢) Bensfit Payments

d) Total Additions to
Market Value = (2) -
(1a)

Average Valuation Assets
= {1b) + .5x[(3a)+(3¢)]

Expected Income at
Valuation Rate = 8% x (4)

Gain {Loss} = {3b) - (5)

Phased-In Recognition of

Investment Return

a) Current Year: 0.1 x {6)

b} First Prior Year

¢) Second Prior Year

d) Third Prior Year

e} Fourth Prior Year

f) Fifth Prior Year

g} Sixth Prior Year

h) Seventh Prior Year

i) Eighth Prior Year

i) Ninth Prior Year

k} Total Recognized
Investment Gain {Loss)

Change in Valuation
Assets (3a) + {3¢) £ (B) +
{7k)

End of Year Assels

a) Market Value = (2)

b) Valuation Assets =
(th) + (8)

¢) Difference Between
Market & Valuation
Assels

Recognized Rate of Return
= [(8) + (7K)} / (4)

Market Rate of Return

12.Valuation Asset Adjustment

Factor = (9b }/ (9a)

$4,906,288,690
5,039,071,709

5,690,042,317

371,505,157
622,409,716
(310,161,246}

$5,590,042,347
5,612,924 466

6,071,046,914

386,942,952
442,377,206
(348,315,561}

$6,071,046,914
6,001,040,078

4,512,260,955

374,214,134
(1,553,001,917)
(379,098,176)

$4,512,260,955
6,278,731,673

5,276,645,338

413,354,720
771,066,207
{420,036,544)

$5,276,645,338
6,604,608,397

5,871,593,444

423,489,032
733,059,352
(461,600,278)

683,753,627

5,069,743,665

405,579,493

216,830,223

21,683,022
{14,753,669)

481,004,597

5,532,238,162

442,579,053
{201,847)
{20,185)

21,683,022
(14,753,669)

(1,558,785,959)

5,9498,148,057

479,851,845

(2,032,853,762)

(203,285,376)
(20,185)
21,683,022
{14,753,669)

764,384,383

6,275,390,761

502,031,261

269,034,946

26,803,485
{203,285,376)}
(20,185}
21,683,022
(14,753,669)

694,948,108

6,585,552,774

526,844,222

206,215,130

20,621,513
26,903,495
(203,285,376}
(20,185}
21,683,022
(14,753,669)

6,929,353

473,852,757

5,590,042,317
5,512,924,466

77,117,851

8.14%
12.61%

0.986204

6,909,168

488,115,812

6,071,046,914
§,001,040,078

70,006,836

8.12%

7.89%

0.988469

{196,376,208)

277,681,595

4,512,260,955
6,278,731,673

(1,766,470,718)

4.73%
(25.59%)

1.391482

(169,472,713}

325,876,724

5,276,645,338
5,604,808,327

(1,327,963,059)

5.30%
17.10%

1.251668

(148,851,200}

339,881,776

5,971,593,444
£,944,400,173

(972,896,729)

5.74%
13.94%

1.162921

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Mi 48152 / http://retirement.cbiz.com

Page 27 of 2

9

83



Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan
Derivation of Actuarial Value of Assets (Cont.}

Valuation Date December 31

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

1.

10.

Beginniag of Year Assets

a)
b)

Market Value
Valuation Assets

End of Year Market Value
Assets

Net Additions to Market
Value

a)
b)

c)
d)

Net Contributions

Nat Investment Income
= (3d) - (8a) - {3¢)
Benefit Payments
Total Additions to
Market Value = (2) -
(1a)

Average Valuation Assets
= (1b) + .5x[(3a)+(3¢c)]

Expecled Income at
Valuation Rate = 8% x (4)

Gain (Less) = (3b) - (5)

Phased-In Recognition of
investment Return

Current Year: 0.1 x (8)
First Prior Year
Second Prior Year
Third Prior Year
Fourth Prior Year
Fifth Prior Year

Sixth Prior Year
Seventh Prior Year
Eighth Prior Year
Ninth Prior Year

Total Recognized
Investment Gain {Loss}

Change in Valuation
Assels (3a) + (3¢} + (B) +
{7%)

End of Year Assets

a)
b)

c)

Market Value = (2)
Valuation Assets =
(ib} + (8)
Difference Between
Market & Valuation
Assetls

Recagnized Rate of Relurn
=[{8)y * (TK)] 1 (4)

11. Market Raie of Return

12 Valuation Asset Adjustment
Factor = {8b ) / (9a)

$5,971,593,444
6,944,490,173

5,935,528,263

362,710,568
108,045,293
(506,821,042}

$5,935,528,263
7,157,148,344

6,858,525,416

856,171,348
633,022,713
(566,196,908}

$6,858,525,416
7,843,152,666

7,651,705,376

476,725,412
979,236,854
(662,782,306)

$7.651,705,376
8,124,887,439

8,063,083,723

651,265,712
467,398,803
(707,286,168)

(36,085,181}

6,872,434,936

549,794,795

(441,749,502}

(44,174,950)
20,621,513
26,903,495

(203,285,376)

(20,185)
21,683,022
(14,753,669)

922,997,153

7,302,135,564

584,170,845

48,851,868

4,885,187
(44,174,950)
20,621,513
26,903,495
(203,285,376)
(20,185)
21,683,022
(14,753,669)

793,179,960

7,750,124,219

620,009,938

358,226,916

35,922,692
4,885,187
(44,174,350}
20,621,513
26,003,495
(203,285,376}
(20,185)
21,683,022
(14,753,669)

411,378,347

8,096,877,211%

647,750,177

{180,351,374)

(18,035,137)
35,922,692
4,885,187
(44,174,950)
20,621,513
26,903,495
(203,285,376)
{20,185)
21,683,022
(14,753,667)

(18,035,137)
35,922,692
4,885,187
(44,174,950
20,621,513
26,903,495
(203,285,376)
{20,185)
21,683,025

{193,026,150)

212,658,171

5,935,528,263
7,157,148,344

{1,221,620,081)

5.19%
1.83%

1.20581%

(188,140,963}

686,004,322

6,858,525,414
7,843,152,666

{984,627,250)

5.42%
10.41%

1.143563

(152,218,271)

281,734,773

7,651,705,376
8,124,887,439

{473,182,063)

6.04%
14.47%

1.061840

{170,253,406)

421,476,315

8,063,083,723
£,645,363,754

{483,280,031)

5.90%
6.13%

1.059937

(155,499,736}

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, M| 48152 / hitp:/fretirement.chiz.com

Page 28 of 2

9

84



Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan

Derivation of Actuarial Value of Assets (Cont.}

Valuation Date December 31

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

1. Beginning of Year Assets
a} Market Value
b} Valuation Assets

2, End of Year Market Value
Assels

3. Net Additions 1o Markat

Value

a) Net Contributions

b} Net Investment Income
= (3d) - (3a) - (3c)

¢) Benefit Payments

d) Total Additions to
Markst Value = {2} -

(ia)

4. Average Valuation Assels
= (1b) + .5x[{3a}+{3c)]

5. Expacted Income at
Valuation Rate = 8% x (4)

6. Gain {Loss) = (3b) - (5)

7. Phased-In Recognition of

fnvestment Relurn

a) Current Year: 0.1 x (6)

b) First Prior Year

c) Second Prior Year

d) Third Prior Year

e) Fourth Prior Year

fy Fifth Prior Year

g) Sixth Prior Year

h} Seventh Prior Year

i) Eighti Prior Year

i) Ninth Prior Year

k) Total Recognized
Investment Gain {Loss}

8. Change in Vaiuvation
Assels (3a) + (3¢} + (5) +
{7x)

9. End of Year Assets
a) Market Value = (2)
b) Valuation Assets =
{1b} + (8)
¢) Difference Between
Market & Valuation
Assets

10. Recognized Rate of Relurn
=[5} + {7k} 1 (%)

11. Market Rate of Return

12.Valuation Asset Adjustment
Factar = (9b ) / {9a)

(18,035,137)
35,822,682

(18,035,137)

4,885,187 35,922,692 {18,035,137)
(44,174,950} 4,885,187 36,922,692 (18,035,137)
20,621,513 (44,174,950} 4,885,187 35,922,692 (18,035,137)
26,903,495 20,621,513 {44,174,950) 4,885,187 35,922,692
(203,285,376} 26,903,495 20,621,513 (44,174,950} 4,885,187
{20,182) (203,285,378) 26,903,441 20,621,513 (44,174,952)
(177,182,758) (177,162,578} 26,122,796 (780,685) (21,402,210)

CBIZ Retirement Plan Services / 17187 N. Laurel Park Drive, Suite 250 Livonia, Ml 48152 / http:/iretirement.cbiz.com

Page 29 of 2

9

85



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

TRAVERSE CITY

LIGHT & POWER
To: Light & Power Board
From: Kelli Schroeder, Manager of HR & Communications -
Date: September 16, 2015
Subject: Interim Director Placement Services

At the September 2, 2015 Special Meeting, the Board directed staff to research utilizing the
recruitment firm of Mycoff, Fry & Prouse, LLC for the placement of an Interim Executive
Director during Tim Arends’ leave of absence. Included with this memo is email correspondence
from Lanie Prouse sumimarizing the process, along with a general description of the fee structure.
In short, the time needed to find and place an Interim Executive Director could take 2-4 weeks,
with costs based on the hourly rate charged by the potential candidate plus a 35% markup.

86



Kelli Schroeder

From: Lanie Prouse <Iprouse@mfpllc.us>

Sent: Wednesday, September 09, 2015 10:15 AM

To: Kelli Schroeder

Subject: RE: Traverse City Light & Power - Interim Placement Services
Attachments: Stassi_ Ronald_2015_resume.docx

Hello Keil,

We typically add 35% over the individual’s hourly rate; however, this number is a little dependent on the worker's
compensation quote that we receive for each individual. Out of this 35% we cover Social Security and Medicare
withholdings, worker’s compensation insurance, fiability insurance, and auto insurance. We find many potential interim
Utility Director candidates do not carry these sorts of insurances on their own. The 35% also allows for a small profit
margin on our end.

| took the liberty of attaching another resume to illustrate the sort of interim Utility Director candidates we can provide.
Please let me know if | can answer any additional questions.
Lanie

(720) 201-1825
iprouse@mfpllc.us

From: Kelli Schroeder {mailto:kschroeder@tclp.org]

Sent: Wednesday, September 9, 2015 6:06 AM

To: Lanie Prouse <lprouse@mfplilc.us>

Subject: RE: Traverse City Light & Power - Interim Placement Services

Morning Ms. Prouse,

Thank you for providing the information below. Our Board will need to review to determine if they would like to
proceed. Does your company charge a percent or flat fee above the Interim Director’s hourly rate and if so what is that?

Thank you,

Kelli Schroeder, PHR

Manager of Human Resources & Communications
Traverse City Light & Power

1131 Hastings Street

Traverse City, MI 49686

{p) 231.832.4545

{f] 231-922-4638

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

Confidentiality Notice: Information contained in this email and/or attachments to it may be confidential and
legally privileged. This information is intended only for the use of the individual to whom this email is
addressed. If you are not that person, you are hereby notified that any use, disclosure, printing, or

1

87




distribution of any of the information contained herein is strictly PROHIBITED, If you have received this
email in error, please notify the sender and delete this email and any attachments immediately.

From: Lanie Prouse [mailto:lprouse@mfplic.us]

Sent: Thursday, September 03, 2015 5:56 PM

To: Kelli Schroeder

Subject: RE: Traverse City Light & Power - Interim Placement Services

Hello Ms. Schroeder,

Thank you for keeping us in mind. We do handle placement of Interim Executive Director candidates. The exact fee for
such an individual is hard to estimate as each potential candidate will typically have their own hourly and per diem rate.

Qur typical process would be to visit with you to get a better sense of the ideal expertise and background. We then
research our database to find applicable prospects and would present you with resumes of interested candidates. We
also facilitate phone discussions with interested prospects so you can further investigate fit, and select the hest
candidate for Traverse City.

The timeframe that Traverse City intends to utilize an Interim Executive Director can be dictated by Traverse City and
included in the negotiated contract/agreement once an individual is selected. The selected individual will work under
Traverse City's direction. We facilitate billing Traverse City per the agreed to rate and we also carry all required
insurances for the interim employee (i.e. worker's compensation, liability, etc.}.

| anticipate it will take approximately two weeks to canvass the market and present resumes.

The attached resume is an example of the sort of interim candidate we would be able to provide. Joe Pandy is pretty
well known in Michigan and | believe he is already aware of Traverse City's potential need for an Interim Executive
Director. loe recently retired from Mountain Parks Electric and is living with his family one hour outside of Traverse City.
if you find Joe's credentials appealing, | can ask him what sort of hourly fee and travel expenses he would charge to
serve in an interim capacity.

Please let me know if you would like to discuss our services in greater detail.
| hope we can be of service.

Sincerely,

Lanie Prouse

Mycoff, Fry & Prouse

(720) 201-1825
Iprouse@mfpllc.us

From: Kelli Schroeder [mailto:kschroeder@tclp.org}
Sent: Thursday, September 3, 2015 10:38 AM

To: Iprouse@miplic.us
Subject: Traverse City Light & Power - Interim Placement Services

Good Afternoon Ms. Prouse,

88



A few weeks back we had corresponded regarding our vacant Manager of Operations & Engineering position. |
appreciated your honest feedback about the difficulty of this particular search. We now, however, are inquiring about
your interim placement services, specifically for our Executive Director position. Cur ED recently took a leave of absence
and we are wanting information on the process, timeframe of placement, cost etc.

| look forward to hearing from you.
Sincerely,

Kelii Schroeder, PHR

Manager of Human Resources & Communications
Traverse City Light & Power

1131 Hastings Street

Traverse City, MI 49686

{p) 231.932.4545

{f) 231-922-4638

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

Confidentiality Notice: Information contained in this email and/or attachments to it may be confidential and
legally privileged, This information is intended only for the use of the individual to whom this email is
addressed, If you are not that person, you are hereby notified that any use, disclosure, printing, or
distribution of any of the information contained herein is strictly PROHIBITED. If you have received this
email in error, please notify the sender and delete this email and any attachments immediately.

89



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

9—51' ]9]2

TRAVERSE CITY

LIGHT & POWER

To: Light & Power Board

From: Jessica Wheaton, Manager of Energy Services & Key Accounts %P

Date: September 15, 2015

Subject: 2014 Annual Summary for the Energy Optimization and Renewable Energy Plan

In 2008, Public Act 295, also known as the "Clean, Renewable and Efficient Energy Act," was
passed. This mandate requires atl Michigan utilities to assist their customers in improving electric
energy efficiency through Energy Optimization programs and increase the amount of renewable
energy in the utility's generation portfolio. Below is a summary of achievements for TCL&P’s
Energy Optimization and renewable energy programs.

Energy Optimization

In 2014, TCL&P saved over 3.4 million kilowatt hours of electricity through the TC Light &
Power Energy Smart Program, exceeding the state-mandated goal by 22% and saving enough
electricity to power approximately 526 Traverse City area homes for an entire year. The program
offered many opportunities for customers to save energy and money.

Those opportunities included:

o Free LED light bulbs and coupons for discounted LED holiday light sets

¢ Incentives for purchasing ENERGY STAR® appliances and high efficiency HVAC
systems

* Incentives for recycling old, inefficient refrigerators, freezers, room air conditioners and
dehumidifiers

e Business customers were offered incentives for upgrading to equipment with greater
energy efficiency, including lighting, motors, air systems, refrigeration, HVAC units and
building management systems

TCL&P was also a proud partner in the Habitat for Humanity net-zero Depot Housing Project
and provided LED lighting and rebates for the high efficiency appliances, HVAC systems and
solar generation systems in all three homes.

Renewable Energy

Public Act 295 also requires Michigan utilities to acquire 10% renewable energy by 2015. For
the 2014 reporting period, TCL&P acquired 35,147,151 kilowatt hours of renewable energy,
which equates to 11% of the utility's total electric sales. TCL&P anticipates this percentage to
continue to rise with the increase in landfill gas energy production.

90



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

TCL&P is currently acquiring its renewable energy from the following sources:

e Heritage Stoney Corners Wind Farm: In 2014, the energy produced from this long-term
wind agreement was equivalent to powering approximately 4,003 Traverse City area
homes for an entire year.

e Granger Landfill Gas Facility and North American Natural Resources: In 2014, the
energy produced from these long-term landfill gas agreements was equivalent to
powering approximately 1,371 Traverse City area homes for an entire year,

Cost to Customers

TCL&P currently does not apply a separate monthly charge to its customers for either the Energy
Optimization or Renewable Energy program expenses as allowed by Public Act 295.
¢ The 2014 itemized monthly charge to a residential customer for implementing the Energy
Optimization program requirements was $0.00 per month.
o The average electric residential customer is expected to save $3.61 each month of the
Energy Optimization program life.
e The 2014 itemized monthly charge to a residential customer for implementing the
Renewable Energy program requirements was $0.00 per month.
¢ For the average Michigan residential customer, renewable energy is estimated to avoid
$3.08 per month of new coal fired generation costs.

The Michigan Public Service Commission's annual reports on energy optimization and renewable
energy can be viewed at the following website: michigan.gov/mpsc.

91



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

TRAVERSE CITY

LIGHT & POWER
To: Light & Power Board
From: Kelli Schroeder, Manager of HR & Communications ﬂ/
Date: September 16, 2015
Subject: Consultant Selection - Market Research Customer Survey

Maintaining a customer satisfaction rating above 95% and determining the appropriate utility
contributions for City projects above the Charter required annual contribution through a Board
approved policy are two business goals identified in the Strategic Plan under Customer
Satisfaction and Financial Stability respectively. Both of these strategic issues warrant customer
feedback in order to ascertain expectations and ensure TCL&P is moving in the right direction.

With Board direction given during the May 26, 2015 Regular Meeting, TCL&P released a
Market Research - Customer Survey Request for Proposal (RFP) on July 17, 2015 with the
ultimate geal being to determine customer satisfaction with services along with customer
expectations surrounding project and program funding. The selected consultant was to provide
the following:

¢ Research and propose the most effective survey method, provide the reasoning for such an
approach and present this to the TCL&P Board for approval.

e Facilitate a discussion with the Survey Ad Hoc Committee comprised of TCL&P Board
members to assist in the development of the survey questionnaire.

¢ Conduct a statistically significant survey to include a proportionate sampling of customers
from each class and log results.

o At the conclusion of the survey provide the results along with an analysis of the data findings
in both paper and electronic format as well as present this information to the TCL&P Board.

¢ Present to the TCL&P Board throughout the process.

The RFP was posted on TCL&P’s website along with an ad placement in the Record Eagle. Four
proposals were received by the August 7, 2015 deadline from the following consultants:

CMS Research $19,500 year 1; $17,000 year 2&3
CS Research & Consulting, LI.C $23,125 +- 5%

Hometown Connections $25,500 or $40,700 (focus groups)
BBC Research & Consulting $51,620

(CONTINUED ON FOLLOWING PAGE)

92



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

Staff reviewed each of the proposals using the attached matrix to assist with the comparison and
has selected CS Research & Consulting, LLC. Dr. Cathlyn Sommerfield is locally based, with a
great deal of experience working throughout the region assisting multiple public and private
agencies. In addition, she also worked with TCL&P on previous surveys within her role at
Northwestern Michigan College.

As we proceed with this process, staff will work with the members of the Survey Ad Hoc
Committee to schedule meeting times with the selected consultant.

93



2015 Market Research - Customer Survey RFP
Summary of Proposals

$19,500 year 1; $17,000 vear 2&3

$23,125 +/- 5%

340,700 {w/focus group) / Telephone only $25,500
{travel expenses billed at cost under both options)

$51,620 (Includes all travel costs); with customer
segmentation analysis $63,180

Billing Inserts with web access info or 300# {12
minutes} - Inserts to be created by TCL&P

Telephone (10 Minute Survey)

Telephone plus (2} Focus groups specific to
Commercial/Industrial

Telephone Survey

nserts in all customer bills; inserts in 6,000
residential, none for industrial {not adequate

Random Sample of 369 Residential and 342
Commmerclal/industdial (95% confidence level, +/- 5%
margin of error by class)

600 completed surveys for residential; 150 surveys
far commercial & industrial plus the {2) focus groups

[Random Sample 400 residential; 300
commercialf/industrial{statistical significance at
95% or 90% confidence level}; CATE System
{Computer Assisted Telephone Interview system)

NeedGap (importance vs satisfaction with
services); Bradley Terry questions (future project
funding); 1-2 open ended questions to get at
"why" for current/future funding

SPSS {Standard Statistical Analysis Package} to
include fequencies, cross-tabulations, significance
testing and gap analysis.

Utilizes data analytics software integrated with
computer-aided interviewing platform

STATA

Approx. 9 weeks

13-14 Weeks

5 weaeks

16 weeks

Toledo, Ohic

Traverse City, Michigan

tL.akewood, Colorado

Denver, Colorado

Dr. Cathlyn Sommerfield

Steve VanderMeer

Dr. Sameer Bawa

Marriott International; Uofii; NiSaurce.

Matt McCauley, Strategic Initiatives Networks NW;
Munson Healthcare; Great Lakes Energy; plus 7
additional relevent experiences listed. Perfomed
TCL&P's 2012 Survey with NMC. (Highly
recammended by Woody Smith, Avenue ISR (883-
2835} who did not submit o proposal (Mary Grover's

recommendation)

Rochester Public Utilities; Connecticut Water
Company; Northeast Gas Association; plus 9

additional relevent experience listed.

City of Fort Collins Utilities; City of phoenix Water
Services Dept.; Denver Regional Transportation
District.

94



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

TRAVERSE CITY

LIGHT & POWER

To: Light and Power Board

From: Karla Myers-Beman, Controller Kug

Date: September 15, 2015

Subject: Emergency Purchase Report to Board — PennLine

Duc to the emergency created by the wind storm of August 3-7, 2015, TCL&P called-in
additional tree trimming crews from PennLine, TCL&P’s current tree trimming contractor that
assisted with the cleanup work to maintain safety within the system and prevent any further
outages to TCL&P customers.

The charges from PennLine were $78,300.30 which is beyond the monetary spending limit set by
the Board for the Executive Director. The Board approved Purchasing Policy docs allow for
emergency purchases by the Executive Director beyond the monetary spending authority, with
conditions.

A portion of this invoice will be reimbursed by the City, because crews were designated to
provide clean-up services that were non-utility related.

This communication to the Board is made to comply with the reporting requirement as identificd
in the Purchasing Policy (relevant section attached).

95




@ a
ennlLin

INVOICE

300 SCOTTDALE AVE.

FAX (724) 887-0545

Traverse Cily Light and Power
1131 Hastings Street
Traverse Cily, M1 49686

SCOTTDALE, PENNSYLVANIA 15683-0462
PHONE (724) 887-9110

FI #25-1000923

iHVOICE HO.
1-264144

PLEASE REMIT TO:

PENN LINE SERVICE
£.0. BOX 280
INDIANA, PA 15701-0280

PURCHASE ORDER KO.

FOREM

AH
36179215

CUST. #

JOB KHO.

iHVOICE DATE

3427 §-9-15
SERVICE UNIT COST TOTAL
Week Ending 8-16-15
KEN MATHEWS TIMESHEETS

2  FOREMAN KEN MATHEWS ST 40.00 37.08 1,482.00
4  GROUNDHAND TYLER BLOOM ST 40.00 29.83 1,193.20
9  PICK UP TRUCK 802-147 ST 40.00 1113 445,20
7  56/80 FOOT BUCKET 146-738 ST 40.00 17.93 717.20
8 CcHIPPER 216-288 ST 40.00 4,04 161.60
10 GHAIN sAWS 2 ST 80.00 4.10 88.00
2 FOREMAN KEN MATHEWS oT 30.00 52.82 1,564.60
4  GROUNDHAND TYLER BLOOM o1 30,00 42.51 1,275.30
9 PICK UP TRUCK 802-147 ST 30.00 11,13 333.90
7 56180 FOOT BUGKET 115-730 ST 30.00 | 17.93 537.90
8 cHiPPER 215-288 ST 30.00 4.04 121.20
10 CcHAIN SAWS 2 ST 16.00 1.10 17.60
5 PER CREW MEMBER 2 MEN - 6 DAYS ST 10.00 58.00 580.00
SUB TOTAL BY CREW 8,537.70

TOTAL AMOUNT DUE THIS INVOIGE $73,943.26

ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING INVOICES - PLEASE GONTAGT
DESRIE @ 1-800-445-91410 EXT. 139

THIS IS YOUR ONLY BiLL - PLEASE PAY FROM THIS INVOICE

PENN LINE SERVICE INC. Is an Equal Employment Opportunity Employer

96




B

rennline

INVOICE

300 SCOTTDALE AVE.

FAX (724) 887-0545

Traverse Cily Light and Power
1131 Hastings Street
Traverse City, Ml 49686

SCOTTDALE, PENNSYLVANIA 15683-0462
PHONE (724) 887-9110

FI #25-1000923

IHVOICE HO.

1-264144

PLEASE REMIT TO:

PENN LINE SERVICE

P.O. BOX 280

INDIANA, PA 15701-0280

PURCHASE GRDER HO, FOREMAN CUST. £ J0B NO. [HVOICE DATE
36179215 3427 8-9-15
SERVICE UNIT COST TOTAL
CLAYTON LANSBERRY T/S 8-8-15
1 LEADFOREMAN CLAYTON LANSBERRY ST 7.00 41.21 288.47
3 OPERATOR/CLIMBER PAUL JOHNSON ST 7.00 34.15 239.05
4  GROUNDHAND JAYSON MYER 8T 7.00 29.83 208.81
9 PICK UP TRUCK 802-473 ST 7.00 11.13 77.91
6 70FOOT BUGKET 115%619 ST 7.00 25.58 179.08
8 cHIPPER 216.244 ST 7.00 4.04 28.28
1 LEAD FOREMAN GLAYTON LANSBERRY oT 14.00 58.91 824.74
3  OPERATORICLIMBER PAUL JOHNSON oT 14.00 48.70 681.80
4 GROUNDHAND JAYSON MYER oT 14.00 42,51 595.14
9 PICK UP TRUCK 802-473 ST 14.00 11.13 155.82
6  70FOOT BUCKET 115-618 ST 14.00 25,58 358.12
8 CHIPPER 215-241 ST 14.00 4.04 56,56
1 LEAD FOREMAN GLAYTON LANSBERRY o7 20.00 58.91 1,178.20
3  OPERATOR/CLIMBER PAUL JOHNSON OoT 20.00 48.70 874.006
4  GROUNDHAND JAYSOH MYER oT 20,00 42.51 850.20
9 PICK UP TRUCK 802473 ST 20.00 11.13 222.60
6 70 FOOT BUGKET 116-849 ST 20.00 25.58 541.60
8 cHIPPER 216-241 ST 20.00 4.04 80.80
10  cHAIN sAWS 3 ST 60.00 1.10 66.00
5  PER CREW MEMBER 3 MEN { 3 DAYS) 8T 9.00 58.00 522.00
SUB TOTAL 8,099.16
THIS 1S YOUR ONLY BILL - PLEASE PAY FROM THIS INVOICE

PENN LINE SERVICE INC. is an Equal Employment Opportunity Employer

97




INVOICE

300 SCOTTDALE AVE,

PHONE (724) 887-9110
FAX (724) 887-0545

Traverse City Light and Power
1131 Hastings Street
Traverse City, Ml 49686

SCOTTDALE, PENNSYLVANIA 15683-0462

Fl #25-1000023

INVOICE RO.

1-264144

PLEASE REMIT TO:

PENN LINE SERVICE
P.O. BOX 280
INDIANA, PA 15701-0280

PURCHASE QRDER HO. FOREMAN CUST. # JOB HO. INVOICE DATE
36179215 3427 8-9-15
SERVICE LINIT COST TOTAL
CLAYTON LANSBERRY T/S 8-16-15

1 LEADFOREMAN CLAYTON LANSBERRY ST 40.00 41.21 1,640.40
3 OPERATORICLIMBER PAUL JOHNSON sT 40,00 34.16 1,386.00
4 GROUNDHAND JAYSON MYER 87 40.00 26.83 1,103.20
9 PICK UP TRUCK 802-473 ST 40.00 11.43 446,20
8 70 FOOT BUGKET 115618 ST 40.00 25.68 1,023.20
8 CHIPPER 245-241 ST 40.00 4.04 161.80
10 CHAIN SAWS (2 ST 80,00 1.10 85.00
1 LEAD FOREMAN CLAYTON LANSBERRY oT 20,00 58.01 1,767.30
3 OPERATOR/CLIMBER PAUL JOHNSCN or 30.00 48,70 1,461.00
4 GROUNDHAND JAYSON MYER ot 30.00 42.54 1,276.30
] PICK UP TRUCK B802-473 1 30,00 11.13 333.90
6 70 FOOT BUCKET 116-619 st 30.00 26.58 167.40
8 CHIPPER 216-244 sT 30.00 4.04 121.20
10 CHAIN SAWS (2) sT 16.60 1.0 17.80
6 PER CREW MEMBER 3 MEN - 5 DAYS sY 15,00 BB.00 870.00

SUB TOTAL 12,630.30

THIS IS YOUR ONLY BILL - PLEASE PAY FROM THIS INVOICE

PENN LINE SERVICE INC. is an Equal Employment Opportunity Employer




&

rennLine

INVOICE

300 SCOTTDALE AVE.

FAX (724) 887-0545

Traverse City Light and Power
1131 Hastings Street
Traverse City, Ml 48686

SCOTTDALE, PENNSYLVANIA 15683-0462
PHONE (724) 887-9110

F1 #25-1000923

IHVOICE HO.

1-264144

PLEASE REMIT TO:
PENN LINE SERVICE

PR.O. BOX 280

INDIANA, PA 15701-0280

PURCHASE ORDER NO. FOREMAN CUST. & JOB NO. INVOICE DATE
36179215 3427 -9-15
SERVICE UNIT COST TOTAL
Week Ending 8-8-15 -
KEN MATHEWS TIMESHEETS FOR THE WEEK

2  FOREMAN KEN MATHEWS ST 7.00 37.05 259.35
4 GROUNDHAND TYLER BLOOM ST 7.00 29.83 208.81
9 PICK UP TRUCK 802-147 ST 7.00 1113 77.91
7  B6I60 FOOT BUCKET 116-739 ST 7.00 17.93 125.51
8 CcHIPPER 216-288 ST 7.00 4.04 28.28
2 FOREMAN KEN MATHEWS oT 14.00 52.82 739.48
4 GROUNDHAND TYLER BLOOM oT 14.00 42.51 595.14
9 PICK UP TRUCK 802-147 ST 14.00 1113 165.82
7  65/60 FODT BUCKET 116-738 ST 14.00 17.93 251.02
8 cHIPPER 216-288 ST 14.00 4.04 56.566
2 FOREMAN KEM MATHEWS oT 20.00 52.82 1,056.40
4  GROUNDHAND TYLER BLOOM oT 20.00 42.51 850.20
9  PIOK UP TRUCK a02-147 ST 20.00 1113 222 .60
7  66/60 FOOT BUCKET $16-739 ST 20.00 17.93 358.60
8 CHIPPER 215-208 ST 20.00 4.04 80.80
10 CHAIN SAWS @ ST 40.00 1.10 44.00
5  PER CREW MEMBER 2 MEN - 3 DAYS ST 6.00 58.00 348.00
8UB TOTAL 8Y CREW 5,458.48

THIS IS YOUR ONLY BILL - PLEASE PAY FROM THIS INVOICE

PENN LINE SERVICE INC. Is an Equal Employment Opportunily Employer

99




B

rennLine

INVOICE

300 SCOTTDALE AVE.

FAX (724) 887-0545

Traverse City Light and Power
1131 Hastings Street
Traverse City, Ml 49686

SCOTTDALE, PENNSYLVANIA 15683-0462
PHONE (724) 887-9110

Fl #25-1000923

INVOICE N0,

1-264144

PLEASE REMIT TO:

PENN LINE SERVICE
P.Q. BOX 280

iNDIANA, PA 15701-0280

PURCHASE ORDER NO.

FOREMAN

CUST, ¢

JOB NO.

INVOICE DATE

36179215 3427 8-9-15
SERVICE UNIT COST TOTAL
Week Ending 8-8-15 -
DARYLE FOSTER CREW FOR THE WEEK
2 FOREMAN DARYL FOSTER ST 7.00 37.05 259.35
3  OPERATOR/CLIMBER ANDREW MITGHELL ST 7.00 34.15 239.05
3  OPERATOR/CLIMBER ROBERT HUGHES ST 7.00 34.15 239.05
4  GROUNDHAND TROY MILLER ST 7.00 29.83 208.81
7  55(60 FOOT BUGKET 115-110 ST 7.00 17.93 125.51
7 65/60 FOOY BUCKET 145-621 sT 7.00 17.93 125.51
8 cHuipPER 215-367 ST 7.00 4.04 28.28
8 cHIPPER 216-303 ST 7.00 4,04 286.28
2  FOREMAN DARYL FOSTER (o)) 14,00 52.82 739.48
3 OPERATORICLIMBER ANDREW MITCHELL oT 14.00 48.70 681.80
3  OPERATORICLIMBER ROBERT HUGHES oT 14.00 48.70 681.80
4 GROUNDHAND TROY MILLER oT 14.00 42.51 595.14
7 5560 FOOT BUCKET 116-710 ST 14.00 17.93 251.02
7  &5/80 FOOT BUCKET 116-621 ST 14.00 17.93 251.02
8 CHIPPER 245-367 ST 14.00 4,04 56.56
8 CHIPPER 245.303 ST 14.00 4.04 56.56
2  FOREMAN DARYL FOSTER OF 20.00 52.82 1,086.40
3 OPERATORIGLIMBER ANDREW MITGHELL o7 20.00 48.70 974.00
3  OPERATOR/CLIMBER ROBERT HUGHES oT 20.00 48.70 974.00
4 GROUNDHAND TROY MILLER oT 20,00 42.51 850.20
7  55/80 FOOT BUCKET 116-740 ST 20.00 17.93 358.60
7 55060 FOOT BUGKET 216-367 ST 20.00 17.93 358.60
8 CHIPPER 116-624 ST 20.00 4.04 80.80
8 CHIPPER 216-303 ST 20.00 4.04 80.80
10  cHAIN saws (3 ST 60.00 1.10 66.00
5 PER GREW MEMBER 4MEN - 3 DAYS ST 12.00 58.00 696.00
SUB TOTAL BY CREWS 10,062.62
THIS 1S YOUR ONLY BILL - PLEASE PAY FROM THIS INVOICE

PENN LINE SERVICE INC. is an Equal Employment Qpportunity Employer

100




ennLine

INVOICE

300 SCOTTDALE AVE,

FAX (724) 887-0545

Traverse City Light and Power

1131 Hastings Street
Traverse City, Ml 49686

SCOTTDALE, PENNSYLVANIA 15683-0462
PHONE (724) 887-9110

Fl #25-1000923

IVOICE HO.

1-264144

PLEASE REMIT TO:
PENN LINE SERVICE

P.O. BOX 280

INDIANA, PA 15701-0280

PURCHASE GRDER NO. FOREMANR CUST. 2 JOB HO. INVOICE DATE
36179215 3427 8-9-15
SERVICE UNIT COST TOTAL
Week Ending 8-16-15
DARYLE FOSTER CREW FOR THE WEEK

2 FOREMAN DARYL FOSTER ST 40.00 37.05 1,482.00
3 OPERATORICLIMBER ANDREW MITCHELL ST 40.00 34.15 1,366.00
3  OPERATORICLIMBER ROBERT HUGHES ST 40.00 34.15 1,366.00
4  GROUNDHAND TROY MILLER ST 40,00 29.83 1,183.20
7  56/60 FOOY BUCKET 116-710 ST 40.00 17.93 717.20
7 5GI60 FOOT BUCKET 146-621 ST 40.00 17.93 717.20
8 cHPPER 246.367 ST 40,00 4.04 161.60
8 CcHIPPER 215-303 8T 40.00 4.04 161.60
10 cHaIN saws {4) ST 160.00 1.10 176.00
2 FOREMAN DARYL FOSTER oT 30.00 52.82 1,584.860
3  OPERATCRICLIMBER ANDREW MITCHELL oT 30.00 48.70 1,461.00
3 OPERATORICLIMBER ROBERT HUGHES oT 30.00 48.70 1,461.00
4  GROUNDHAND TROY MILLER ot 30.00 42.57 1,275.30
7 65180 FOOT BUCKET 115-740 ST 30.00 17.93 6537.90
7  56/60 FOOT BUGKET 415-621 ST 30.00 17.93 537.90
B  CHIPPER 216-367 ST 30.00 4.04 121.20
8 cHIPPER 245-303 ST 30.00 4.04 121.20
10 cHAIN sAWS (4} ST 32.00 1.10 35.20
5 PER CREW MEMBER 4 MEN -6 DAYS ST 20.00 58.00 1,160.00
SUB TOTAL 15,636.10

THIS 1S YOUR ONLY BILL - PLEASE PAY FROM THIS INVOICE

PENN LINE SERVICE INC. is an Equal Employment Opporiunity Employer

101




B

ennli

INVOICE

300 SCOTTDALE AVE.

FAX (724) 887-0545

Traverse City Light and Power
1131 Hastings Street
Traverse City, Ml 49686

= SCOTTDALE, PENNSYLVANIA 15683-0462
e PHONE (724) 887-9110

FI #25-1000923

PLEASE REMIT TO:

PENN LINE SERVICE

P.O. BOX 280

iNDIANA, PA 15701-0280

PURCHASE OADER NO. FOREMAT %u495 ? JoB “%61 29215 WVOICE DATEB_9_1 5
SERVICE UNIT COST TOTAL
JON SHIMELS T/5 8-9-15
2  FOREMAN JON SHIMEL ST 7.00 37.05 259.35
4  GROUNOHAND © TIMOTHY SMITH ST 7.00 29.83 208.81
6 70FODT BUCKEY 116-778 §T 7.00 25.58 179.06
B  cHIPPER 215-407 ST 7.00 4.04 28.28
2  FOREMAN JON SHIMEL ot 14.00 52.82 739.48
4  GROUNDHAND TIMOTHY SMITH oT 14.60 42.51 £95.14
G 70 FOOT BUCKET 116778 ST 14.00 25.58 36812
8 cHiepER 215407 ST 14.00 4,04 56.56
2 FORERAN JON SHIMEL oT 20.00 52.82 1,0656.40
4 GROUNDHAND TIMOTHY SMITH oT 20.00 42,51 850.20
G 70 FOOT BUCKET 116-776 ST 20.00 256.68 511.60
8 cturrer 216-407 ST 20.00 4.04 30.80
10 CHAIN SAWS (2) ST 40.00 1.10 44.00
$  PER GHEW MEMBER 2-MEN - 3 DAYS ST 6.00 58.00 348.00
SUB TOTAL 5,315.80
JON SHIMELS 1/5 81616

2  FOREMAN JON SHIMEL ST 40,00 37.05 1,482.00
4 GROUNDHAND TIROTHY SMITH ST 40.00 29.83 1,193.20
G 70 FOOY BUCKET 116-776 ST 40.00 25.68 1,023.20
8 CHIPPER 216-407 ST 40.00 4.04 161.60
10 cHAIN 8AWS (2) ST 80.00 1140 88.00
2 FOREMAN JON SHIMEL oT 30.00 52.82 1,684.60
4 GROUNDHAND TIMOTHY SMITH oT 30.00 42.51 1,275.30
6 70 FOOT BUCKET 115-776 5T 30.00 25,58 767.40
8 cHierER 216407 ST 30.00 4.04 121.20
10 CHAIN 8AWS (2) 5T 16.00 110 17.60
5 PER CREWY MEMBER 2-MEN -5 DAYS ST 10.00 58.00 580.00
SUB TOTAL 8,294.10

THIS IS YOUR ONLY BILL - PLEASE PAY FROM THIS INVOICE

PENN LINE SERVICE INC. is an Egual Employment Qpportunily Employer

102




INVOICE

INVOICE HO.

300 SCOTTDALE AVE. 1-264395

D
’ L' SCOTTDALE, PENNSYLVANIA 15683-0462
.enn Ine PHONE (724) 887-9110
FAX (724) 887-0545 I

PLEASE REMIT TO:

Traverse City Light and Power PENN LINE SERVICE

1131 Hastings Street
Traverse City, Ml 49686 FN%IEI?I)-I\(, 2};,3? 15701-0280
PURCHASE ORDER NO. FOREMAN CUST. # JOB HO. INVOICE DATE
3427 36179215 8-16-15
SERVICE UNIT COST TOTAL
MOTELS - ALL RECEIPTS ATTACHED 3,102.62
Mark 6% 155.13
TOTAL FOR MOTELS 3,257.75
MEALS - ALL RECEIPTS ATTACHED 1,046.94
Mark 6% 52.35
TOTAL FOR MOTELS 1,099.29
TOTAL AMOUNT DUE THIS INVOICE 4,357.04
THIS IS YOUR ONLY BILL - PLEASE PAY FROM THIS INVOICE

PENN LINE SERVICE INC. is an Equal Employment Opportunity Employer

103



C. EMERGENCIES

Emergency Defined. Emergency is defined as a threat to the public safety or welfare, or
where timely action is required to restore electric service or avoid reduction of electric

service or an anticipated outage.

Executive Director Authority. The Executive Director is authorized to enter into such
contracts, purchase orders and service orders without Board approval in the amount
necessary to alleviate or avoid an emergency. The Executive Director may delegate in
writing to a Department Head authority to authorize that Department Head to exercise his

or her emergency authority.

Reporting. When the Executive Director engages in an emergency transaction beyond
the monetary spending limit of the Executive Director, he shall report such activity as
soon as possible to the Board members and place the matter on the agenda of the next
regular or special TCL&P Board Meeting for the information of the Board.

Edwand E. Fice

Edward E. Rice
Secretary
Traverse City Light & Power Board

Page 6 of 6

104



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

TRAVERSE CITY
LIGHT & POWER

To: Light & Power Board

From: Karla Myers-Beman, Controller Ko
Date: September 16, 2015

Subject: Employee Recognition Luncheon

In appreciation of the hard work and dedication of employees during the summer construction
season, TCL&P will be holding a steak luncheon in conjunction with an all employee quarterly
meeting on Wednesday, September 30, 2015.

TCL&P has hosted end of season luncheons on and off since 2010 for all employees as an
opportunity to say thank you for working diligently to complete projects throughout the spring
and summer.

105



FOR THE LIGHT & POWER BOARD MEETING OF SEPTEMBER 22, 2015

TRAVERSE CITY
LIGHT & POWER

To: Light & Power Board
From: Kelli Schroeder, Manager of HR & Communications
Date: September 16, 2015

Subject: 2015 TCL&P Open House

TCL&P will hold an Energy Smart Open House on Saturday, October 3rd from 11 am. - 3 p.m.
at the Hastings Street Service Center. The Open House will kick-off Public Power Week which is
a country-wide program through the American Public Power Association (APPA) that celebrates
the importance of public power to local citizens. The community is invited to attend and observe
TCL&P’s operations that show how their local electric utility provides safe, low cost, reliable
service. Activities will include free food and beverages, free “hard hats” to the first 200 kids,
prize drawings and giveaways along with live demonstrations such as pole climbing, bucket truck
operation, electrical safety and the Peddle-A-Watt Bike demo.

The last Open House was on October 8, 2011.

106



Memorandum The City of Traverse City

TO: TRAVERSE CITY LIGHT & POWER BOARD
e

FROM: MARTY COLBURN, INTERIM DIRECTOR

DATE: SEPTEMBER 17, 2015

SUBJECT; INFORMATIONAL UPDATE

Over the past 2 weeks, I’ve been interacting with the senior staff of TCL&P. During that time
period, T have discussed projects, personnel issues, and financial issues particularly addressing
questions within the annual audit. Overall operations and projects appear to be moving forward
in a timely manner.

We’ve discussed a number of upcoming projects, as well as having signed contracts including
Severance Electric Company, Inc. for the Union Street conduit installation, which is part of the
Pine Street project, and also the Settlement Agreement with GRP Engineering. I've also had
discussions with Light & Power’s attorney regarding Consumers/Munson properties and the coal
dock issue. We’ve had a telephonic meeting with the Chair and Vice Chair with regards to this
agenda’s pertinent matters. Overall, operations are running smoothly and Ms. Myers-Beman is
extremely helpful and supportive, ensuring that the day to day operations run smoothly, and I’'m
appreciative of her expertisc and attention to matters.

107




